THE SCATTERING OF LIGHT AND ITS APPLICATIONS TO CHEMISTRY

GERALD OSTER

Rockefeller Institute for Medical Research, Princeton, New Jersey

Received January 19, 1948

CONTENTS

| Ι. | Introduction | 319 |
|------|---|-----|
| II. | Independent particles | 320 |
| | A. Small particles | 320 |
| | 1. Isotropic particles | 320 |
| | 2. Anisotropic particles | 326 |
| | B. Large particles | 328 |
| | 1. Large spheres | 328 |
| | 2. Metallic particles | 334 |
| | 3. Large particles with relative index of refraction near unity | 335 |
| | 4. Depolarization by large particles | 344 |
| III. | Non-independent particles | 349 |
| | 1. Pure liquids | 350 |
| | 2. Non-ideal solutions | 354 |
| | 3. Liquids at the critical temperature | 356 |
| | 4. Interfaces | 357 |
| | 5. Fine structure of the Rayleigh line | 358 |
| IV. | References | 360 |

I. INTRODUCTION

When a beam of light falls upon matter, the electric field associated with the light induces periodic oscillations of the electrons in the material. The material then serves as a secondary source of light and radiates light in the form of scattered radiation with a wave length equal to that of the incident light.¹ The intensity, polarization, angular distribution, and fine structure of the scattered radiation are determined by the size, shape, optical constants, and interactions of the molecules in the scattering material. Conversely, from a knowledge of the light-scattering properties of a given system, the chemist can, with the aid of the electromagnetic theory of radiation and the kinetic theory of matter, obtain a detailed molecular picture of that system.

The use of light scattering to study molecular systems has the added advantage that the system under study is not affected by the measurement (except in the rare instances in which the incident light induces photochemical changes) and that changes in the system which take place rapidly can be easily followed.

In this review no attempt will be made to discuss all the problems to which light scattering has been (or could be) applied, since such a discussion would

¹ In this paper we shall not consider the relatively small amount of light which is reemitted with an altered wave length when the molecules are raised to higher energy states by the incident light, i.e., the Raman effect (compare Section III,5).

encompass nearly every branch of science. We shall, instead, confine ourselves to the physical principles of light scattering and to the chemical problems to which it has been applied and shall indicate some further possible uses for it in the field of chemistry.

II. INDEPENDENT PARTICLES

Independent particles are defined as particles located randomly in space, as are molecules in a perfect gas or solute molecules in an ideal solution. For a system of independent particles, the intensity of the light scattered is the sum of the contributions from each of the scattering particles of the system. Since the particles are randomly disposed, the light scattered by any one particle bears no fixed relationship to that for any other particle, i.e., there is incoherent scattering, and the total intensity of scattered light is the sum of the intensities from all the particles. If, however, the scattering elements lie close together in a regular array, as in a perfect crystal at zero absolute temperature, there is destructive interference between the scattered wavelets because of the fixed phase relationships, i.e., there is coherent scattering, and the intensity of scattered light is zero. Because of the imperfect correlation which exists between the positions of molecules in a liquid, a liquid will scatter light with intensity intermediate between that for the same weight of a gas and that for a crystal.

In the case of particles which possess a linear dimension comparable to or greater than the wave length of incident light, the scattering from different parts of the same particle must be considered. Because there are fixed phase relationships between the wavelets scattered from the scattering elements of the same particle, there is for large particles some destructive interference with a consequent decrease in efficiency of scattering. Nevertheless, the intensity of light scattered by a system of large particles randomly disposed will be the sum of the contributions of the light scattered from each of the particles.

A. SMALL PARTICLES

1. Isotropic particles

Lord Rayleigh in 1871 (172) laid the foundation of light scattering by his application of electromagnetic theory to the problem of light scattering by molecules in a gas. He subsequently (173) used his results to account for the observed intensity, color, and polarization of light from the sky. According to Rayleigh (172, 173) the oscillating electric field of the light incident upon a transparent optically isotropic particle whose radius is small compared with the wave length of the light induces an oscillating electric moment in the particle. The particle, acting as a linear electrical oscillator, does not radiate light in the direction of the vibrations. Along other directions, however, it radiates light and the scattered light is perfectly plane polarized when viewed at right angles to the incident beam whether the incident light is polarized or unpolarized. The first detailed observations on the polarization of scattered light were made by Tyndall (208).

The character of the scattered light from particles small compared with the wave

length of the incident light is given by the formula for the intensity of radiation from a Hertzian dipole antenna which is derived in most textbooks of theoretical physics (see, for example, Slater and Frank (190, Chapter 25)). It is shown that the intensity of scattered light is proportional to the inverse fourth power of the wave length. Thus, when white light is made to fall on a system of such particles, the blue component of the white light is scattered much more than is the red; and the system has a blue color when viewed at right angles to the incident beam of light. When viewed in the direction of the transmitted beam, the system appears yellow in color since the blue component has been removed by scattering.

The complete equation for the intensity of light scattered by ν (per unit volume) independent small isotropic scatterers is derived in detail in treatises on electromagnetic theory (Born (19, Chapter 7, Section 81); Stratton (199, Chapter 8, Section 8.5 and Chapter 9, Section 9.27)) and is given by

$$\frac{i}{I} = \frac{8\pi^4 \nu \alpha^2}{\lambda'^4 r^2} \left(1 + \cos^2 \theta\right) \tag{1}$$

i is the intensity of scattered light per unit volume of the scattering system, Iis the intensity of the incident beam, r is the distance of the observer from the scattering system, θ is the angle between the observer and the proceeding incident beam, λ' is the wave length of the light falling on the particles ($\lambda' = \lambda/n_0$. where λ is the wave length of light incident upon the system and n_0 is the index of refraction of the medium), and α is the polarizability or induced dipole moment per unit electrical field strength of the small isotropic particles. Equation 1 is for unpolarized incident light; the $\cos^2 \theta$ term in the parentheses refers to the component of the scattered light whose electric vector lies in the plane defined by the incident and scattered beams (the plane of the page in figure 1) and the unity term in the parentheses refers to the component of the scattered light whose electric vector is perpendicular to this plane. Figure 1 shows the angular distribution of intensity and polarization of the light scattered from a small isotropic scatterer. The scatterer is at the origin, and the length of the line drawn from the origin to a point on the curve is proportional to the intensity of scattered light. The dotted curve refers to the $\cos^2 \theta$ term, that is, to the component which is horizontally polarized, and the outer curve refers to the component which is vertically polarized. It is seen from figure 1 that the light scattered at 90° is completely vertically plane polarized. The total intensity of scattered light is the sum of the horizontally and vertically polarized components given by equation 1. The spacial distribution of the intensity of the scattered light is given by the surface formed by rotating the curves in figure 1 about the vertical axis.

When a beam of light traverses a light-scattering system, its intensity is decreased by virtue of the energy withdrawn from the beam in the form of scattered radiation. The energy lost is given by the time average of Poynting's vector integrated over the surface of a sphere of radius r. For small isotropic scatterers the angular intensity distribution is symmetrical; i.e., the intensity of scattered light in the forward directions is equal to that in the backward directions, and

GERALD OSTER

the fractional decrease in intensity of the incident light scattered in all directions can be calculated. The logarithm of the fractional decrease in transmitted intensity, I, is given by the turbidity τ (also called the attenuation or extinction coefficient due to scattering) where $I = I_0 e^{-\tau l}$ and l is the path length in the scattering system. Such a calculation (Born (19, page 377); Stratton (199, page 436)) shows that for i perpendicular to the incident beam ($\theta = 90^{\circ}$)

$$\tau = \frac{16}{3} \pi r^2 \frac{i}{I} \tag{2}$$

and on combining with equation 1 we obtain for the turbidity:

$$\tau = \frac{128\pi^5 \nu \alpha^2}{3\lambda'^4} \tag{3}$$

Since by equation 3 the turbidity for independent particles is proportional to the number of particles per unit volume, ν , equation 3 is a statement of Beer's law where the attenuation in intensity of the incident light is due to scattering.



FIG. 1. Angular scattering diagram for small isotropic particle (dipole scattering). See text for explanation.

The polarizability of an isotropic molecule is proportional to the volume of the molecule; therefore from equations 1 and 3 the intensity of scattering is proportional to the number concentration, ν , of the particles and the square of their volumes. Because of the strong dependence of the intensity of scattering on the volume of the particles, it is important in scattering measurements to eliminate large extraneous particles (usually dust) which scatter a considerable amount of light even though they are present in relatively small concentrations. The practically complete elimination of dust particles in gases for light-scattering studies was first achieved by Cabannes in 1915 (23).

In order to relate equations 1 and 3 to experimental quantities, it is necessary to introduce the optical constants of the system. For a mixture of ν isotropic particles (per unit volume) of polarizability α immersed in a medium of optical dielectric constant ϵ_0 (the optical dielectric constant of transparent material is equal to the square of its refractive index) the following relation holds

$$\frac{\epsilon - \epsilon_0}{\epsilon_0} = 4\pi\nu\alpha \tag{4}$$

where ϵ is the optical dielectric constant of the mixture. Equation 4, which is due to Maxwell (see Jeans (90a, Chapter 5)), is valid regardless of the shape of the isotropic particles and requires no assumptions concerning the electric field on the particles (the local field). Inserting equation 4 into equations 1 and 3, we obtain for the intensity (per unit volume) and turbidity of the small isotropic particles (note that $\lambda = n_0 \lambda'$)

$$\frac{i}{I_0} = \frac{\pi^2 (\epsilon - \epsilon_0)^2}{2\lambda^4 \nu r^2} \left(1 + \cos^2 \theta\right) \tag{5}$$

and

$$\tau = \frac{8\pi^3(\epsilon - \epsilon_0)^2}{3\lambda^4\nu} \tag{6}$$

Cabannes (24) has made quantitative measurements on the intensity of light scattered by argon. He was able to determine the number of gas molecules per unit volume, ν , from equation 5 where $\epsilon_0 = 1$ (empty space). Since $\nu = Nc/M$, where N is Avogadro's number, c the weight concentration, and M the molecular weight, Cabannes obtained a value for Avogadro's number.

Inserting Nc/M for ν in equations 5 and 6 we obtain expressions relating the intensity of scattering (per unit volume) and the turbidity to the molecular weight of the scatterers, or

$$\frac{i}{I_0} = \frac{\pi^2 Mc}{2\lambda^4 r^2 N} \left(\frac{\epsilon - \epsilon_0}{c}\right)^2 \left(1 + \cos^2 \theta\right) \tag{7}$$

and

$$\tau = \frac{8\pi^3 Mc}{3\lambda^4 N} \left(\frac{\epsilon - \epsilon_0}{c}\right)^2 \tag{8}$$

The specific dielectric increment, $\epsilon - \epsilon_0/c$, may be expressed in terms of the specific index of refraction increment, $n - n_0/c$, where n and n_0 are the indices of refraction of the mixture and medium, respectively, by

$$\frac{\epsilon - \epsilon_0}{c} = \frac{n^2 - n_0^2}{c} \simeq \frac{\partial n^2}{\partial c} \simeq 2n_0 \left(\frac{n - n_0}{c}\right) \tag{9}$$

For most substances the specific index of refraction increment is a constant independent of the concentration and depends on the index of refraction of the solute and of the medium. In the extreme case in which the index of refraction of the medium is equal to that of the solute, the refractive index increment is zero and no scattering will take place. The index of refraction of isotropic solute particles may be determined by adjusting the refractive index of the medium until no scattering occurs (Heller (84)).

Putzeys and Brosteaux (154, 155) have determined the relative intensity of scattering from dilute solutions of a few proteins. They found that the intensities were proportional to the known molecular weights of these proteins, in agreement with equation 7. By their studies, Putzeys and Brosteaux were the first

to establish the light-scattering method as a useful means of determining the molecular weights of large molecules in solution. Putzeys and Brosteaux (155) also determined the pH stability range of some proteins by measuring the relative intensity of scattering as a function of pH. In principle, they could have determined the absolute molecular weights from equation 8. In order to use this equation, however, it is necessary to know the volume of the scattering sample and the distance, r, very accurately. On the other hand, the absolute value of the turbidity can, for a sufficiently turbid sample, conveniently be measured in a colorimeter or spectrophotometer and only the thickness of the sample need be known (see below).

From equation 8, using the approximation of equation 9, the molecular weight of the small isotropic colorless solute particles is related to the turbidity for very dilute solutions (the turbidity of the solvent is subtracted) by

$$M = \frac{\tau}{Hc} \tag{10}$$

where

$$H = \frac{32\pi^3 n_0^2}{3N\lambda^4} \left(\frac{n-n_0}{c}\right)^2$$

Equation 10 is essentially Rayleigh's equation (equation 3) and is the result obtained from the more general expression due to Einstein (48) (see Debye (32, 33, 34) and Section III,2 of this paper), by extrapolating to infinite dilution. According to equation 10, the molecular weight of small isotropic particles can be determined from a knowledge of (1) the turbidity of a dilute solution of the material, (2) the concentration of the solution, and (3) the specific index of refraction increment.

An application of equation 10 was the determination of the molecular weights of tomato bushy stunt virus and influenza virus by the use of a spectrophotometer (Oster (138)). It was necessary to determine the turbidity as a function of wave length so as to use the turbidity in that wave-length region where the inverse fourth power of the wave-length relationship of Rayleigh was obeyed. The particles were large enough to give intense scattering where Beer's law was obeyed, so that the solutions were ideal. In figure 2 are shown the results for very dilute solutions of tomato bushy stunt virus. The turbidity given in terms of the optical density, $D(\tau = 2.303D)$, obeys Rayleigh's inverse fourth power law over the visible range, but at shorter wave lengths there is real light absorption due to the presence of ultraviolet-absorbing chemical groups. The molecular weight calculated from the slopes of the curves, together with the index of refraction increments, gave values for the virus particles in agreement with those determined by other methods. The turbidity of the pure solvent is automatically taken care of when the turbidity of the solvent is taken as the zero reading in a spectrophotometer. The light-scattering method gives the molecular weights of the dry protein, since the water of hydration of the protein has nearly the same index of refraction as the solvent water. Recently Bardwell and Sivertz (9) have determined the size of latex particles by the spectrophotometric method and obtained results in agreement with other methods.

The equations given above and the cases to which they were applied are those of monodispersed systems. Frequently, for high-polymeric and colloidal solutions, one does not deal with monodispersed systems. For a polydispersed system of ν_j (per unit volume) small isotropic particles of volume v_j , equation 3 for the turbidity is given by

$$\tau = A \sum_{i} \nu_{i} v_{i}^{2}$$
(11)

where A is a function of the wave length and the proportionality constant (a function of the index of refraction) between the polarizability and the volume



FIG. 2. Optical density as a function of inverse fourth power of the wave length for bushy stunt virus in water (Oster (138)).

of the particles (see equation 18). Equation 11 may be used to obtain an expression for the turbidity as a function of time for some kinetic processes. For a solution of high-polymeric molecules or colloidal particles in which polymerization or coagulation is taking place, the system at any instant is polydispersed. If we know the number of *j*-mers, ν_j , as a function of time we can calculate the change in light scattering with time for the polymerization or coagulation process (Oster (139)). Since the volume of the *j*-mers is *j* times the volume of the monomers, v_0 , equation 11 becomes

$$\tau = A v_0^2 \sum_j j^2 \nu_j \tag{12}$$

The problem is now reduced to the mathematical one of evaluating the sum where ν_j is known for various polymerization and coagulation processes. Calculation shows (139) that (a) in linear condensation polymerization, the turbidity

(or intensity of scattering) increases linearly with time with a slope determined by the rate constant of the elementary step reaction, (b) in depolymerization of linear polymers, the turbidity decreases with time as the hyperbolic cotangent of the time, (c) in addition polymerization, the turbidity increases quadratically in time with a curvature determined by the rate constant of the elementary step reaction, (d) in coagulation of colloidal particles, the turbidity increases linearly in time with a slope proportional to the square of the weight concentration of the colloid. The last case was confirmed from experiments on the turbidity of coagulating systems during the period in the process when the coagulating particles scattered light according to Rayleigh's law.

2. Anisotropic particles

In the previous discussion we considered optically isotropic particles, that is, particles whose polarizability, α , is independent of direction in the particle. For small isotropic particles, the direction of the electric field associated with the incident light always coincides with the direction of the induced moment, and the scattered light is perfectly plane polarized in the direction $\theta = 90^{\circ}$. For anisotropic particles, however, in which the polarizabilities along the various directions in the particle are not equal, in that there are different refractive indices along different directions, the direction of the incident electric field may not coincide with the direction of the induced moment. As a consequence, the light scattered at 90° will not be perfectly plane polarized perpendicular to the plane of the incident beam and the direction of the observation, and will exhibit a weak component in the horizontal direction. Rayleigh (177) calculated the depolarization, i.e., the ratio of the intensity of the horizontally polarized light to that of the vertically polarized light, in terms of the polarizabilities, α_1 , α_2 , α_3 , along the principal axes of the polarizability ellipsoid by resolving the induced dipole moments along these principal axes and integrating over all possible orientations of the particle. The expression for the depolarization, ρ_u , of the light scattered at 90° from unpolarized incident light is given by

$$\rho_{u} = \frac{2(\alpha_{1}^{2} + \alpha_{2}^{2} + \alpha_{3}^{2} - \alpha_{1}\alpha_{2} - \alpha_{2}\alpha_{3} - \alpha_{1}\alpha_{3})}{4(\alpha_{1}^{2} + \alpha_{2}^{2} + \alpha_{3}^{2}) + \alpha_{1}\alpha_{2} + \alpha_{2}\alpha_{3} + \alpha_{1}\alpha_{3}}$$
(13)

For such small anisotropic molecules, the intensity of light scattered will be more than that for particles which are of the same volume but which are isotropic. According to Cabannes (25), the intensity of scattered light given by equations 5 and 7 must be, for $\theta = 90^{\circ}$, multiplied on the right-hand side by the factor

$$\frac{1+\rho_u}{1-\frac{7}{6}\rho_u}\tag{14}$$

For directions other than $\theta = 90^{\circ}$ a more elaborate factor is required (Martin (122)). The turbidity also depends on the depolarization, and equations 6 and 8 for the turbidity must be multiplied on the right-hand side by the factor:

$$\frac{1+\frac{1}{2}\rho_u}{1-\frac{1}{6}\rho_u}\tag{15}$$

The derivations of these formulae are quite involved, and for a detailed treatment the reader is advised to see any of the numerous treatments of the subject (for example, Born (19), Gans (68), Stuart (201), and Bhagavantam (13)).

The depolarization of the scattered light may be determined visually by the Cornu method adapted by Cabannes (25). This method consists in dividing the scattered light into its horizontal and vertical polarized components with a double prism (Wollaston prism). The two components are then made to pass through an analyzer (nicol prism or polaroid); if the analyzer is rotated through the angle ϕ which makes the brightness of the two components equal, the depolarization is given by $\tan^2 \phi$ (see, for example, Woods (220, page 340)). For most systems the depolarization is small and the intensity of the horizontal component is difficult to measure visually except by the Cornu method. With the recent development and general availability of extremely sensitive photoelectric cells, particularly the photomultiplier cell, the depolarization can be measured directly by measuring photoelectrically the intensity of the scattered light when it passes through the analyzer with plane of polarization in the vertical and horizontal positions.

Cabannes (25) has discussed the conditions under which the depolarization can be accurately determined. They include the use of parallel light as the incident beam, the observations made exactly at 90° to the incident beam, and the elimination of dust which, as we shall see, can make a large contribution to the depolarization. Another precaution is the elimination of secondary scattering, whose contribution to the depolarization will be discussed later.

The maximum depolarization which can be theoretically obtained for a particle small compared with the wave length of incident light is that of scattered light from an infinitely thin rod. Then $\alpha_1 \neq 0$ and $\alpha_2 = \alpha_3 = 0$, so from equation 13 the depolarization is 0.5, and from equation 14 and 15, respectively, the intensity is 3.6 times and the turbidity 3.0 times that for isotropic particles of the same volume. For all the gases which have been measured, however, the depolarization is considerably less than one-half. Bhagavantum (13, pages 54 and 55) has compiled a table of the depolarization of seventy-six common gases and vapors. The values range from 0 for argon to 0.125 for nitrous oxide, corresponding to $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \alpha_3$ for the former and $\alpha_1/\alpha_2 = \alpha_1/\alpha_3 = 2.61$ for the latter. The aromatic compounds show greater depolarization than do the corresponding aliphatic series, and the depolarization increases as one goes from ethane through ethylene to acetylene. If the molecules are highly optically active, the interpretation of the depolarization is difficult (Gans (63)). The depolarization of scattered light from liquids is complicated by the fact that the particles are not independent and the problem will be treated in detail later. For the very dilute solutions of proteins studied by Putzeys and Brosteaux (154) the depolarization was observed to be negligibly small (see Section II,B,4).

Under the influence of a strong electric field, most liquids and gases will exhibit a feeble birefringence. This phenomenon, called the Kerr effect after its discoverer (94), has been shown by Langevin (112) to be due, for anisotropic nonpolar gases, to the partial alignment of the molecules with their axes of greatest

GERALD OSTER

polarizability along the direction of the applied electric field. Langevin related the Kerr constant (the birefringence per unit field strength) to the polarizabilities of the molecules. Thus the depolarization can also be obtained from the Kerr effect (Raman and Krishnan (158)). The depolarization obtained from the scattered light and that calculated from the observed Kerr effect are in good agreement for non-polar anisotropic gas molecules, but for polar molecules the Kerr effect is largely due to the Debye orientation effect, and one must incorporate the theory of Born (18) for such molecules with assumptions concerning the angle which the permanent dipole makes with the axes of the polarizability ellipsoid (for review, see Stuart (201)).

B. LARGE PARTICLES

In the treatment given above we have considered the light scattered from small transparent particles as that of the radiation from an oscillating dipole. If. however, the particles possess a linear dimension greater than about one-tenth the wave length of the incident light, or if the particles are metallic, they cannot be considered optically small and the character of the light scattered is more complicated than that given by the dipole radiator theory of Rayleigh. For large particles the scattered light will be the superposition of the wavelets from various parts of the same particle. In the general case the phase and intensity of the wavelets will bear complicated relationships to each other. The solution of this problem is obtained by solving the boundary value problem of a plane wave incident upon a particle of arbitrary size, shape, orientation, and index of This general case has not been solved because of mathematical refraction. For spheres, however, whether transparent or metallic, the problem difficulties. has been solved by Mie (125), and important contributions have also been made by Debye (31) and by Rayleigh (175). Some attempts have been made to extend the Mie theory to other than spherical particles (see Gans (62) and Möglich (126)), but the problem is far from completely solved.

When the index of refraction of the particle is nearly that of the medium, then as will be shown, the problem reduces to that of calculating the phase relationships between the wavelets scattered from a fixed array of dipole oscillators making up the particle. The mathematical problem is then identical with that of the analogous x-ray-scattering case. Because of the mathematical simplicity of this problem, it is useful to separate this case from that of particles with arbitrarily high index of refraction. We shall also treat separately the special case of metallic particles, since metals have complex indices of refraction for the visible wave-length region of light.

1. Large spheres

Mie (125) (see also Debye (31) and Rayleigh (175)) obtained as a mathematical solution for the intensity of scattered light incident upon a sphere of arbitrary size and index of refraction a series expression in terms of spherical harmonics. The coefficients of the series are functions of the ratio, m, of the index of refraction of the particle and that of the medium and of the parameter $x = 2\pi R/\lambda'$,

where R is the radius of the sphere and λ' is the wave length of the light in the medium. The series is the sum of the contributions to the scattering by the electric and magnetic multipoles of the oscillating electric charges.

For particles with radii comparable or large compared to the wave length of incident light, i.e., $x \ge 1$, and with index of refraction ratio, m, differing somewhat from unity, say, for example, $m \ge 1.3$, the calculations of the Mie series are lengthy, and for details the reader is referred to the original papers of Mie (125), Debye (31), and Rayleigh (175) and to the reviews by Epstein (50), Stratton (199, Chapter 9), and van der Hulst (211). The mathematical problem of the Mie theory is very similar to that of wave-mechanical collision processes in which the effective size of the particle is given in terms of the De Broglie wave length of the particles (see, for example, Mott and Massey (128, Chapter 2)).

In the case of very small spherical particles of finite index of refraction, i.e., for particles for which $mx \rightarrow 0$, Mie's theory reduces to the Rayleigh problem. For somewhat larger particles of finite index of refraction, say m = 1.33 and x = 1 (e.g., water droplets in air with radii about one-sixth the wave length of the incident light), the Mie series expression can be expressed with sufficient accuracy as the sum of terms involving the contributions to the scattering by the electric dipole and quadripole moments and the magnetic dipole moment. The intensities of the vertical and horizontal polarized components, i_1 and i_2 , respectively, are given in this case by

$$i_{1} = \frac{\lambda^{\prime 2}}{8\pi r^{2}} \left| \frac{a_{1}}{2} + \frac{(a_{2} + p_{1})}{2} \cos \theta \right|^{2}$$

$$i_{2} = \frac{\lambda^{\prime 2}}{8\pi r^{2}} \left| \frac{a_{1}}{2} \cos \theta + \frac{a_{2}}{2} \cos 2\theta + p_{1} \right|^{2}$$
(16)

Equations 16 refer to unpolarized incident light of unit intensity. a_1 and a_2 are the electric dipole and quadripole contributions, p_1 is the magnetic dipole contribution, and they are given by

$$a_1 = 2x^3 \frac{m^2 - 1}{m^2 + 2}$$
 $a_2 = -\frac{x^5}{6} \frac{m^2 - 1}{m^2 + 3/2}$ $p_1 \simeq -\frac{x^5}{15} (m^2 - 1)$

When the radius of the particle is small, only the electric dipole term, a_1 , is important, and equation 16 reduces to the Rayleigh expression (equation 1) for the total intensity, $i_1 + i_2$, for unit intensity of unpolarized incident light: namely, to

$$i_1 + i_2 = \frac{\lambda' x^6}{8\pi^2 r^2} \left(\frac{m^2 - 1}{m^2 + 2}\right)^2 (1 + \cos^2 \theta)$$
(17)

where the polarizability, α , of the sphere is given by

$$\alpha = \frac{m^2 - 1}{m^2 + 2} \left(\frac{\lambda' x}{2\pi} \right)^3 = \frac{m^2 - 1}{m^2 + 2} R^3$$
(18)

For larger particles than those to which equation 16 refers, the intensity will be

given by an expression involving the contributions to the scattering by higher multipoles. Equation 16 shows that the scattering is not symmetrical about $\theta = 90^{\circ}$, but that more light is scattered in the forward than in the backward directions. Furthermore, the light scattered at 90° is not perfectly plane polarized, although the particles are taken as being isotropic.

Debye (31) has obtained asymptotic expressions for the terms in the series of the form of equation 16, and several authors have calculated the series numerically for various-size particles with various indices of refraction.² For example, Shoulejkin (186) has calculated the Mie terms for spherical particles of index of refraction ratio m = 1.33 (applicable to, for example, water droplets in air, or, with a minor transformation, air bubbles in water) for x equal to 1, 3, and infinity. Blumer (17) and Caspersson (27) have computed the Mie terms for several values of m and x. Engelhard and Freiss (49), Paranjpe, Naik, and Vaidya (144), and Ruedy (181) have calculated the Mie terms for large values of x and have compared the calculated values of the angular dependence of scattering with those from artificial aerosols made by adiabatic expansions of vapors, as is done in a Wilson cloud chamber. The agreement of the observed results with those calculated constitutes a confirmation of the Mie teroy.

In figure 3 are illustrated angular scattering diagrams from Blumer's calculations (17) for spheres for which m = 1.25 and x equals 0.8 and 4.0, respectively. For x = 4.0 the large area of forward scattering is not shown. As in figure 1, the dotted curves represent the intensity of the horizontal component of the scattered light and the smooth curves represent the intensity for the vertical polarized component. For both these cases more light is scattered in the forward directions than in the backward directions, in contrast to Rayleigh scattering (figure 1) which is symmetrical about 90°. The larger particle has a complicated scattering diagram which is typical of large particles, especially those with large index of refraction. The maxima and minima in the diagram increase in complexity as the size and index of refraction of the particle are increased and correspond to the increasing importance of the higher multipoles with their associated higher spherical harmonics in the Mie series. The complicated scattering diagram which is essentially the diffraction pattern of the large particles, reduces, in the limiting case of particles which are very large compared to the wave length of light, to the ordinary refraction and reflection diagram of geometrical optics together with the superimposed diffraction.

If white light is incident upon a monodispersed system of particles of large size and high index of refraction ratio, each color component of the white light will have its own complicated scattering pattern and the scattering system will exhibit vivid colors when viewed at various angles. Ruedy (181), for example, has examined the transmitted color and the colored rings about the transmitted beam of light in artificial fogs of water droplets. Keen and Porter (92) noted that sulfur sols exhibited changes in transmitted colors as the sols aged, that is,

 $^{^{2}}$ Added in proof: The most complete calculations to date are those carried out by A. Lowan and his associates. They are available from the U. S. Department of Commerce Office of Publications Board, Washington, D. C.

as the particles increased in size. Ray (171) (see also Raman and Ray (165)) found that sulfur sols exhibited a few orders of colors when viewed at various angles with respect to the incident beam. A detailed study of this phenomenon has recently been carried out by La Mer and his coworkers. La Mer and Barnes (107) made a special effort to obtain monodispersed sulfur sols and were able to see as high as nine orders of colors in angular scattering. It is necessary to obtain nearly monodispersed systems, since a mixture of particles of various sizes will not give distinct color bands. Johnson and La Mer (91a) have shown that as the monodispersity is increased the color bands become more distinct, and propose that this effect may be used as a test of homogeneity of the size of the particles. They have measured the position and ratio of the intensities of the red to green colors of sulfur sols of known particle sizes and obtained good agreement with the Mie theory. It should be remembered, however, that sulfur has a high index of refraction ($m \simeq 1.5$ in water) and for particles of low refractive



FIG. 3. Angular scattering diagrams for spheres (from calculations by Blumer (17))

index of refraction, say, for example, protein material ($m \simeq 1.15$ in water), in order to exhibit colors the particles must be so large that they can easily be seen in a light microscope. Nevertheless, for large-size protein-containing substances such as blood cells or bacteria, small changes in size due to drying can be easily followed by studying changes in the angular color pattern or diffraction pattern of suspensions of these particles (for review, see Ponder (152)).

In order to calculate the turbidity or extinction coefficient for a scattering system, it is necessary to integrate the intensity of scattered light over all angles. Rayleigh scattering gives a symmetrical angular pattern and the integration is easy to perform. For larger particles, however, the angular distribution is given by the Mie series, and the integration is difficult to perform. Jobst (91) obtained an approximate value for the sum of the Mie series by utilizing the asymptotic expressions for the terms in the series obtained by Debye (31). While for small particles the extinction coefficient is proportional to the sixth power of the radius and inversely proportional to the fourth power of the wave length of incident light, Jobst finds, for particles comparable to the wave length of light, that the extinction coefficient is proportional to the fourth power of the radius and inversely proportional to the square of the wave length. For very large particles, the extinction coefficient is proportional to the square of the radius and is independent of the wave length. Since the extinction coefficient or turbidity becomes less dependent on wave length as the particles are increased in size, a system of large particles will, when illuminated with white light, appear whitish when viewed at 90° instead of bluish as for Rayleigh scattering. An estimation of the size of particles can be made by determining spectrophotometrically the dependence of the turbidity on the inverse power of the wave length (see Heller, Klevens, and Oppenheimer (85), Heller and Vassy (86), and Doty (42)).



FIG. 4. Upper: extinction coefficient per cross-sectional area as a function of size of sphere. Lower: power of x/λ as a function of size of sphere (La Mer (106)).

For the purposes of this discussion it is convenient to consider the scattering area coefficient, K, which is the extinction coefficient per cross-sectional area of the particle and which may be written quite generally as:

$$K = Q\left(\frac{x}{\lambda}\right)^{\nu} \tag{19}$$

Q is a function of m, and y varies from 4 for a Rayleigh scatterer to 0 for a particle large compared to the wave length. For some intermediate particle sizes y can be negative as may be seen in figure 4, calculated by La Mer (106) from the Mie theory. Figure 4 and similar curves by Stratton and Houghton (198), by van der Hulst (211), and by Sinclair (187) show that the extinction coefficient per cross section increases in the Rayleigh region as x^4 and reaches a maximum of from about 3 to 5, depending on the value of m, while for large x it oscillates with diminishing amplitude about the value 2 as x increases. That is, as the geometrical optical region is approached, the extinction becomes equal to twice the cross-sectional area of the particle. This result, which follows from computations of the higher Mie terms for very large particles, appears to be twice as great as one would expect from geometrical optics, to which the Mie theory must reduce for very large particles. This apparent paradox has been explained in detail by van der Hulst (211, Chapter 5; see also Sinclair (187)), who showed that even in geometrical optics a sphere will extinguish twice the amount of light striking it. Half this amount of light is scattered in a narrow peak of only slightly deviating rays on the exit beam. If the incident plane wave comes from a distant source and if the observation is made at a sufficiently great distance from the particle, the extinction will be twice the cross-sectional area of the particle. In the usual experiments in geometrical optics, however, the particle may be of macroscopic dimensions and the light source and observer are not at sufficiently great distances to observe this phenomenon. An example of the large distances required is given in the transmission experiments of Sinclair (187) with lycopodium spores (radius equal to 15 microns). At an observation distance of 6 in. from the spores the extinction coefficient was found to be equal to the cross-sectional area and only at a distance of 18 feet or greater was the extinction coefficient equal to twice the cross-sectional area. The applications of the theory of turbidity of large spherical particles are very important to the problem of visibility in astronomy and meteorology and the reader is referred to the book of Middleton (124), which contains a few hundred references on this problem.

As indicated earlier, the turbidity is less dependent on the size of the particle for very large particles than for small ones. For a given weight (or volume) of material which is monodispersed into particles of very small size so that Rayleigh's law is obeyed, the turbidity will increase as the third power of the radius, since the number of particles per unit volume of the system decreases inversely as the third power of the radius, while the scattering of each particle increases as the sixth power of the radius, and the turbidity is the product of these quantities. When the particles are comparable in size to the wave length of incident light, the scattering per particle is proportional to the fourth power of the radius, and the scattering for a given weight of material will increase linearly with the radius. For still bigger particles the scattering is proportional to the square of the radius, so that the scattering of the system will actually decrease with increasing radius of the particles. Thus, maximum scattering will occur for a given weight of material when the particles are about equal in size to the wave length (i.e., when the particles have a diameter nearly equal to the resolving power of the light). In figure 5 are shown curves for the dependence of the extinction coefficient of a given weight of material on the particle diameter. The data are taken from the work of Caspersson (27), who calculated them from the Mie theory. Note that the particle size for which the maxima occur is independent of the refractive index ratio. The position does depend, however, on the index of refraction of the medium, which determines the resolving power. Paint manufacturers have learned by experience that the maximum spreading

GERALD OSTER

power of colorless material is achieved by grinding the material to a size corresponding to the resolving power of the light. Clewell (29) (see also Barnett (10), Andreason (3), Bailey (7), and de Vore and Pfund (38)) has examined suspensions of highly refracting substances and found the maximum in turbidity given in figure 5. The curves also show that for certain sizes (in figure 5, particles with a diameter of 380 m μ) the longer wave length will be scattered more than the shorter one, a result which is the reverse of that in Rayleigh scattering.

2. Metallic particles

The vivid colors exhibited by metal sols are due mainly to selective absorption of the light by the metals. For sufficiently large particles, however, scattering can also play a rôle in determining the color of the sol. The color phenomena



FIG. 5. Relative extinction coefficient as a function of diameter of spheres for constant weight concentration of scattering material (from calculations by Caspersson (27)).

of metal sols are described in detail by Wo. Ostwald (143), by Svedberg (204, page 193 *et seq.*), and by Freundlich (57, Volume 2, page 26 *et seq.*), who also give extensive bibliographies.

According to Mie (125), the color of metal sols may be deduced from his theory when the index of refraction of the metal, n', is given in complex form

$$n' = n - ik \tag{20}$$

where *n* is the ordinary index of refraction and $4\pi k/\lambda$ is the absorption coefficient of the metal. For all metals in the visible region of the spectrum, *n* and *k* are nearly equal and are of the order of unity. Both quantities vary considerably with the wave length in a manner characteristic for each metal (see, for example, Mott and Jones (129, Chapter 3, sections 7 and 8). At long wave lengths (infrared wave lengths or greater) *n* and *k* are equal and are large compared to unity. For such long wave lengths there is considerable reflection of the incident light in the backward directions. Steubing (196) examined the transmission and the 90° scattering of gold sols in some detail. He found that sols of small particle size (radius about 25 m μ) strongly absorbed green light and thus appeared red on transmission and showed very little scattering. For larger particles, the absorption band is broader and shifts toward the red and there is considerable right-angle scattering. Such sols appear blue on transmission. Mie (125) showed that the phenomena reported by Steubing are explainable in a quantitative fashion by his theory.

For each metallic sol the absorption coefficient and index of refraction of the metal as a function of wave length must be known in order to explain the color of the sol. Further complications are introduced if the metallic particles are not spherical (see Gans (61)) or homogeneous in size. The polarization of scattered light from metallic spheres is similar to that expected for transparent spheres.

The theory of the light scattering from metallic particles has been used in the study of the transmission of light through interstellar space. Recent work indicates that much of the matter in interstellar space is in the form of particles comparable in size to the wave length of light. From an analysis of the absorption coefficient, estimates can be made of the distribution of these particles in interstellar space (the work up to 1940 has been summarized by Schoenberg and Lambrecht (185)).

3. Particles with relative index of refraction near unity

Particles which are comparable in size to the wave length of incident light and which possess a high relative index of refraction exhibit a complicated scattering pattern. This pattern, given by the Mie series, is determined not only by the interferences between the wavelets scattered by the volume elements of the same particle, but also by the distortions in phases and electric field associated with the incident and outgoing light brought about by the electromagnetic interactions of the field and the polarizable scattering elements. As indicated above, even for such a simple shape as a sphere, the solution of the problem is quite complicated. For particles with relative index of refraction m near unity, however, the distortion effect on the primary and scattered waves is small; and, to a first approximation, only the relative phases of the wavelets from the scattering elements, treated as dipole oscillators, need be considered. The relative phase relationships of the wavelets from various parts of the same particle are determined by the relative positions of the scattering elements, that is, by the shape of the particle, and therefore the problem is identical mathematically with the analogous problem in x-ray and electron scattering by molecules.

The treatment of the scattering of large particles as that of an assembly of independent dipole oscillators will be valid if the condition 2x(m-1) < < 1 is satisfied. Thus for particles, such as bacteria in water, which have a low relative refractive index but are large compared with the wave length of light, this simplified picture will not apply. In general, however, chemists are interested in particles which are too small to be seen in the light microscope. For protein molecules and most high polymers in solution the relative index of refraction is

less than 1.2; and since these particles possess a linear dimension equal to or less than the wave length of light, the simplified treatment is applicable. In cases where the index of refraction of the particle is quite high, the relative index of refraction can be reduced by dissolving some highly refractive substance into the suspending medium.

For a particle with a dimension equal to the wave length of light or greater than it and having a relative index of refraction nearly unity, each volume element of the particle will scatter light according to the Rayleigh relation given by equation 1. The wavelets will interfere, because the phase relationships between the wavelets coming from the various volume elements of the same particle are fixed. There will be more light scattered in the forward directions than in the backward directions, since wavelets from particles along the incident beam will be approximately in phase, but in the backward direction they will generally be out of phase with some destructive interference and a consequent loss in intensity. The radiation envelope will be smooth, as for the particle in figure 3A, and the larger the particle the greater will be the forward scattering. The 1 + $\cos^2 \theta$ factor of Rayleigh scattering of unpolarized incident light is symmetrical about 90° to the incident beam and can be omitted from the discussion, since we shall consider observations made at angles symmetrical about this direction. As P. Debye (32) and P. P. Debye (36) have pointed out, intensity measurements made at two equal angles on either side of 90° define the shape of the radiation envelope and allow for a determination of the size of the scattering particle. The ratio of the intensity of light scattered in some forward angle ($\theta < 90^{\circ}$) to that scattered at its supplementary angle, $180^{\circ} - \theta$, is called the dissymmetry of the scattering system. We shall now consider the dependence of dissymmetry on the size of the particle for three types of particles frequently encountered in high-polymer chemistry,-namely, for spheres, random coils, and rods.

Just as for x-ray and electron scattering, the intensity of light scattered from an assembly of light-scattering elements making up the particle is proportional to

$$\sum_{i} \sum_{j} \frac{\sin\left(\frac{4\pi r_{ij}}{\lambda'}\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\right)}{\frac{4\pi r_{ij}}{\lambda'}\sin\frac{\theta}{2}}$$
(21)

where λ' is the wave length of light in the medium and r_{ij} is the distance between the elements *i* and *j*. This formula may be expressed in integral form in terms of the vector distance separating two volume elements and the density of pairs of such elements. This latter function—the radial density—is determined by the arrangement of the scattering elements, that is, by the shape of the large particle. Equation 21 and its integral representation are derived in detail in most treatments of x-ray and electron scattering by molecules (see, for example, Compton and Allison (30, Chapter 3) and Pirenne (149, Chapter 7)).

For spherical particles the scattering elements are spherically symmetrically distributed. The radial density function is a constant for such an arrangement of scattering centers. The integral representation of equation 21 for a sphere of diameter L leads to the following expression for the angular dependence of the scattered light intensity when normalized (intensity is unity for $\theta = 0$)

$$\left[\frac{3}{z^3}\left(\sin z - z \cos z\right)\right]^2$$
$$z = \frac{2\pi L}{\lambda'} \sin \frac{\theta}{2}$$
(22)

where



F1G. 6. Relative intensity of scattering as a function of angle for spheres of low relative index of refraction (P. P. Debye (37)).

aggregates of small particles. The same expression was obtained by Debye and Menke (35) in their study of the x-ray diffraction of liquid mercury. For x-ray scattering by liquids this term has importance only for angles extremely close to the main beam and is, therefore, neglected in most x-ray studies. This small angle scattering of x-rays is important, however, in the case of finely divided powders; and for carbon black the size of the clusters of the tiny particles can be determined by equation 22 from the angular distribution of the radiation scattered at small angles (Biscoe and Warren (16)). The Mie theory reduces to the same result as equation 22 for spherical particles which have sufficiently small relative index of refraction and size (van der Hulst (211, Chapter 4). In figure 6 is illustrated (P. P. Debye (37)) the expression of equation 22 as a function of angle for spheres of various sizes. Incidentally, equation 22 is expressible by the Bessel function of the 3/2 order, $J_{3/2}(z)$, and is equal to

$${9\pi\over 2z^3}\, J^2_{3/2}(z)$$

GERALD OSTER

Tables for this Bessel function are available.³ As can be seen from the curves, the intensity of scattering is greater in the forward directions than in the backward directions. The curves show that for these particles the radiation envelopes are smooth and that only for the comparatively large sphere $L = \lambda'$ at an angle close to the main beam is there any deviation from a simple behavior. In figure 7 is illustrated the ratio of the intensities of the scattered light for observations made at 45° on either side of 90° to the incident beam. The dissymmetry rises very rapidly with increase in particle diameter.

The dissymmetry for spheres may be illustrated by the results obtained for influenza virus by the reviewer. Measurements were made at 45° and 135° in a light-scattering photometer developed by Speiser and Brice (193).⁴ The



FIG. 7. Dissymmetry as a function of L/λ' for spheres, coils, and rods of low relative index of refraction.

apparatus consists essentially of a mercury lamp with monochromatic filters, a lens for projecting a narrow beam through the center of the scattering cell, a sensitive phototube mounted on an arm capable of rotation about a vertical axis, and a removable polarizer and analyzer for determining depolarization. If a rectangular cell is used, it is necessary to correct the angles for refraction at the solution-glass-air interfaces (Debye (36); see also Stein and Doty (194)). Such a correction may be eliminated by using a cell whose faces are normal to the outgoing scattered beam. A spherical cell with radius large compared to the

³ Tables of Spherical Bessel Functions, Vol. I. Columbia University Press, New York (1947).

⁴ The author is indebted to Dr. B. A. Brice of the Eastern Regional Research Laboratory, U. S. Department of Agriculture, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, for the use of this apparatus. cross-sectional area of the scattered beam has been found satisfactory by the reviewer. By introducing a mirror which can be rotated in a rectangular cell P. P. Debye (36, 37) insures that the scattered light is always normal to the face of the cell so that no correction need be made in the angles. The results for the scattering of blue light from a solution of a highly purified sample of influenza virus (PR8 strain) in 1 N phosphate buffer at pH 7 are shown in figure 8. On extrapolating to infinite dilution the dissymmetry is found to be equal to 2.6. This dissymmetry corresponds in figure 7 to a ratio of diameter to wave length of 0.39; and since the blue light was obtained with a filter having a maximum transmission at 436 m μ . This value is 28 per cent higher than that obtained from spectrophotometric measurements of the turbidity (Oster (138)). The discrepancy in values obtained by the two methods may be due to the fact that,



FIG. 8. Dissymmetry ($\lambda = 436 \text{ m}\mu$) of aqueous solutions of the PR8 strain of influenza virus.

since the blue filter allows some light of wave lengths shorter than 436 m μ to be transmitted and since the dissymmetry for spheres of this size range rises rapidly with a slight decrease in wave length, the observed dissymmetry is higher than that which might be obtained if purely monochromatic light had been employed. Because of the high sensitivity of dissymmetry to particle size the dissymmetry method may be conveniently employed to study the swelling of spheres. Molecules which clump together to give spheres of these sizes show large dissymmetry; and Doty, Wagner, and Singer (45) have studied the association of polyvinyl chloride in dioxane by this method (see also Landshoff (108)).

For randomly coiled polymers the radial density function is given by the Gaussian distribution employed by Kuhn (104); namely, by

$$\left(\frac{3}{2\pi L^2}\right)^{3/2} e^{-3/2(r^2/L^2)} \tag{23}$$

L is the root mean square distance between the ends of the polymer and is given

in terms of the number of links in the polymer chain, s; each link is of length l and can rotate freely, making an angle ϕ with its nearest neighbors. The mean square distance between the ends is given by Kuhn as:

$$L^{2} = sl^{2} \frac{1 + \cos \phi}{1 - \cos \phi}$$
(24)

When the links are not able to rotate freely with respect to one another, more elaborate expressions in terms of the energy of the hindered rotation barrier may be used (Bresler and Frenkel (21), Sadron (182), and Taylor (204a)). When the radial density function of equation 23 is substituted into the integral representation of equation 21, the intensity when normalized (intensity is unity for $\theta = 0$) becomes,

$$\frac{2}{t^2} \left[e^{-t} - (1 - t) \right] \tag{25}$$

where

$$t = \frac{2}{3} \left(\frac{2\pi L}{\lambda'} \sin \frac{\theta}{2} \right)^2$$

This formula, first obtained by Debye (32), is derived in detail in the paper by Zimm, Stein, and Doty (225). In figure 7 the dissymmetry for θ equal to 45° and 135° is given as a function of the ratio of L to the wave length of light in the medium. The degree of coiling of a polymer chain can conveniently be determined by studying the deviations of the dissymmetry from that given by equation 25. Thus, P. P. Debye (37) found that latex particles gave a higher dissymmetry than that expected for randomly coiled chains. The particles are tightly coiled and give a dissymmetry calculated for spheres. Stein and Doty (194), on the other hand, found that cellulose acetate molecules with a molecular weight below 80,000 exhibited in acetone less dissymmetry than that calculated for a random coil and gave values closer to that expected for a rigid rod (see below). The cellulose acetate molecules of higher molecular weights show dissymmetry corresponding to a more kinked condition. It is seen that the dissymmetry method provides a means for studying changes in the shape of highpolymeric molecules in solution. Such changes can be brought about by variations of the type of solvent or variation of the temperature and can be followed as a function of time. The dissymmetry studies of Doty, Affens, and Zimm (43) on polystyrene show that these molecules are in the randomly coiled state in solution. In their measurements, the authors of these latter two papers obtained accurate results with an extraordinarily simple dissymmetry apparatus developed by them. Light scattered at two equal angles on either side of 90° was reflected from mirrors into a comparator photometer and the two light beams were equalized visually.

A thin stiff rod of low relative refractive index may be regarded as a linear array of dipole scatterers. The normalized intensity for a thin rod of length L is given by

$$\frac{1}{z} \int_0^{2z} \frac{\sin w}{w} \, \mathrm{d}w \, - \left(\frac{\sin z}{z}\right)^2 \tag{26}$$

where

$$z = \frac{2\pi L}{\lambda'} \sin \frac{\theta}{2}$$

This formula was derived independently by Neugebauer (134) and by Debye (32). A detailed derivation is also given in the paper by Zimm, Stein, and Doty (225). The definite integral (w is a variable over which the integration is taken) in equation 26, called Si(2z) in the mathematical literature, is given as a function of 2z in certain tables of special functions.⁵ Oster, Doty, and Zimm (142) give values for the dissymmetry as a function of angle for various rod length to wave length ratios. In figure 7 the dissymmetry at θ equal to 45° and 135° is given as a function of the ratio of the length of the rod to the wave length in the medium. The dissymmetry for rods is less than for spheres or coils of comparable size. For particle lengths of the size of the wave length or greater, the dissymmetry increases relatively slowly with increase in particle length. To study particles of such great lengths, the intensities at angles closer to the main beam of light should be measured. However, if angles too close to the main beam are chosen, there is a danger of picking up stray scattered light. In figure 9 is shown the angular distribution of scattered light as measured in the apparatus of Speiser and Brice (193) for two dilute solutions of tobacco mosaic virus particles. Figure 9A shows the relative intensity of light ($\lambda = 546 \text{ m}\mu$) scattered at angles from 45° to 135° in 5° intervals for a sample which had been rendered nearly biologically inactive by having been subjected to very strong sound irradiation for 64 min. This sample has been shown (Oster (140)) by direct examination in the electron microscope to consist of rod-like particles of one-half the length of normal biologically active virus or shorter. The angular scattering of the normal particles is given in figure 9B. From figure 9 the dissymmetry at 45° and 135° is 1.20 and 2.06 for the shorter and longer particles, respectively. From figure 7 the average length of the particles is calculated to be 103 m μ and 275 m μ . The type of average for a system of many particle lengths which the dissymmetry determines depends on the length of the particles for, as seen in figure 7, particles of very great length do not show a dissymmetry much greater than shorter particles which are still great in length. In the intermediate regions, however, for L/λ' from about 0.3 to 0.6, the dissymmetry increases approximately linearly with the length of the particles, so that the dissymmetry for a polydispersed sample of rods of lengths lying in this range will be determined by the mean length of the particles. It should be emphasized that the particlelength region where the dissymmetry is approximately linear with the length of the particles depends on the scattering angles which one chooses. As seen in figure 9A, the angular light scattering for the shorter particles is nearly sym-

341

⁵ See, for example, The British Association for the Advancement of Science, *Mathematical Tables*, Vol. I, London (1931).

metrical with a minimum near 90°. For unpolarized incident light the curve for a single dipole scatterer is given by $1 + \cos^2 \theta$, and figure 9A is this curve with a slight forward dissymmetry superimposed on it. The virus particles of normal size, however, show a strong forward scattering. The particle length calculated for the dissymmetry at 45° and 135° is in good agreement with that found by



FIG. 9. Angular scattering ($\lambda = 546 \text{ m}\mu$) for solutions (protein concentration of 0.01 g./100 ml. buffered at pH 7.0) of (A) tobacco mosaic virus which had been subjected to sonic irradiation for 64 min. and (B) normal freshly purified tobacco mosaic virus.

Oster, Doty, and Zimm (142), who studied the dissymmetry of a similar sample at two different angles in the visual photometer described earlier. These authors determined the particle length by viscosity and electron microscope studies and obtained close agreement with that determined by the dissymmetry method with the same sample. The reviewer (141) has been able to determine by the dissymmetry method the particle length of long rods of tobacco mosaic virus particles which have been made to aggregate end-to-end and which exceed 1 micron in length. This method should prove of value for studying the end-toend aggregation of other fibres, particularly those encountered so frequently in biology. The dissymmetry method is perhaps superior to stream birefringence and viscosity methods for determining the lengths of elongated particles, since it determines the length of the particles as they exist in solution under equilibrium conditions. The latter two methods, however, involve subjection of the particles to a shear gradient in order to make them flow; and this process can in some cases distort the normal shape of the particles (Kuhn (105), Frenkel (55)). Doty (42) has integrated numerically the angular scattering curves for rods of several lengths. From these results he is able to determine the particle length of rods from the dependence of the turbidity on wave length as determined in a spectrophotometer. This method is similar to that described for spheres in the previous section.

From figure 7 it appears that the dissymmetry for rods or coils approaches limiting values as L/λ' increases. If the dissymmetry is determined at two angles symmetrical about 90°, then it may be shown from equation 26 that for rods the dissymmetry approaches $\cot \theta/2$ for large values of L/λ' (note that $Si (2z) \rightarrow \pi/2$ and $(\sin z/z) \rightarrow 0$ for large z). Similarly it may be shown that for coils the dissymmetry approaches $\cot^2 \theta/2$ and for spheres the dissymmetry oscillates about $\cot^4 \theta/2$ for large values of L/λ' . Since the dissymmetries for rods, coils, and spheres approach quite different values, the general shape of the particle can be determined from the limiting value of the dissymmetry.⁶ Stein (195) has suggested that the limiting value of the dissymmetry could be determined by measuring the dissymmetry for continuously decreasing wave lengths (and therefore increasing values of L/λ'), using a variable monochrometer as a light source.

The molecular weight of spheres of known density can be found from the dissymmetry, since this method determines the diameter of the particles. For coils and rods, however, only the length of the long dimension is determined, so that another measurement must be made in order to find the molecular weight of the particles. Because of the destructive interference among the wavelets scattered from particles comparable in size to the wave length of light, the turbidity will be less, per unit volume of scattering material, for such large particles than for very small particles. In making molecular weight determinations of such large particles the turbidity must be corrected by a factor greater than unity to account for this decrease in scattering. If the turbidity is determined in the transverse direction, it must be multiplied by the reciprocal of relative intensity given by equations 22, 25, or 26, depending on the shape of the particle, for $\theta = 90^{\circ}$ and L/λ' determined by the dissymmetry measurement. This corrected value for the turbidity, for sufficiently dilute solutions, gives from equation 10 the molecular weight of the particles. By applying this correction, determined graphically from the dissymmetry measurements, to their measure-

⁶ Added in proof: These ideas have recently been utilized by W. K. Jordan and G. Oster (Science **108**, 188 (1948)) in their light-scattering studies of changes in shape of the very long fibrillar muscle protein, actomyosin.

ments of the turbidity of solutions of tobacco mosaic virus, Oster, Doty, and Zimm (142) obtained a molecular weight for these particles which agreed closely with that obtained from other methods.

The dissymmetry of a system of particles is very sensitive to particle interactions. Thus Oster, Doty, and Zimm (142) found that the dissymmetry of scattering from very dilute solutions of tobacco mosaic virus in water decreased markedly with increase in virus concentration. In buffer at pH 7.0, however, the dissymmetry was found to be independent of concentration in this low concentration region. The reviewer has investigated this system further (141) and has found that for much higher virus concentrations the dissymmetry of solutions of the virus in the buffer at pH 7.0 also decreased with increasing virus concentration, but that the solutions of the virus in water show a much steeper decrease and beyond a certain concentration show an increase in dissymmetry with concentration. The concentration for the minimum in dissymmetry is correlated with a maximum in turbidity and with the formation of the liquid crystalline state (see reference 141 for details). Zimm (223) has developed an approximate theory which attempts to correlate the concentration dependence of the dissymmetry with certain thermodynamic quantities which express the extent of the deviation of the solution from ideality. This problem will be discussed later in this review when non-independent particle systems are considered. There can be, however, a decrease in dissymmetry with concentration which is not due to particle interactions. The reviewer (141) has studied the dissymmetry of solutions of tobacco mosaic virus as a function of virus concentration for two wave lengths. When extrapolated to infinite dilution the curve for the shorter wave length ($\lambda = 436 \text{ m}\mu$) gives a higher dissymmetry than that for the longer wave length ($\lambda = 546 \text{ m}\mu$) and both correspond from figure 7 to that for a rod 275 m μ in length. For concentrations above 0.03 per cent, however, there is a reversal in relative values of the dissymmetries. The dissymmetry measured with the blue light now becomes less than that for the green light, and the difference between the dissymmetries for the two colors becomes more pronounced as the concentration of the virus is increased. This anomalous behavior may be due to several causes which depend on the geometrical arrangement, size, and convergence of the incident beam of light and on the turbidity of the sample. This problem will be considered in detail in the discussion of anomalous depolarization given below. In general, it is difficult to correct for these effects; and for most systems the dissymmetry is easily interpretable only when it is extrapolated to infinite dilution, as is done for influenza virus in figure 8.

4. Depolarization by large particles

The character of the polarization of the light scattered by a system of particles is determined by the size and the optical anisotropy of the particles. As discussed earlier, small isotropic particles exhibit complete vertically polarized scattered light at 90°, while small anisotropic particles show some depolarization in this direction. Spherical particles which are comparable in size to the wave length of light also exhibit depolarization, although these particles may not be anisotropic. Thus, depolarization studies enable one to determine the size range and anisotropy of the scattering particles.

The intensities of the horizontal and vertical components of the light scattered at 90° are usually denoted by H and V, respectively. The subscripts u, h, and v denote unpolarized, horizontally polarized, and vertically polarized incident light, respectively. In terms of the quantities V_* , H_* , V_h , and H_h , the depolarizations are given by

$$\rho_{v} = \frac{H_{v}}{V_{v}} \tag{27a}$$

$$\rho_{\hbar} = \frac{V_{\hbar}}{H_{\hbar}}$$
(27b)

$$\rho_u = \frac{H_h + H_v}{V_h + V_v} = \frac{H_u}{V_u}$$
(27c)

Some authors define ρ_h as the reciprocal of that given in expression 27b—namely, by H_h/V_h —and this is occasionally a source of confusion. The components for four types of scattering particles—small isotropic, small anisotropic, large isotropic spheres, and large anisotropic non-spherical particles—will now be considered.

Optically isotropic particles which are small enough to show Rayleigh scattering give a scattering diagram exhibited by a dipole oscillator. This diagram (figure 1) shows that if the incident light is horizontally polarized, the intensity of light scattered at 90° is zero. If the incident light is vertically polarized, all the light scattered at 90° is vertically polarized. This condition is expressed by

$$V_v \neq 0$$
 $H_v = V_h = H_h = 0$ $\rho_v = 0$ $\rho_h = 1$ $\rho_u = 0$ (28)

Small anisotropic particles, however, exhibit depolarization at 90° when the incident light is either vertically polarized or is unpolarized. For these particles, the plane of polarization of the incident light may not lie in the direction of the induced moment and, as can be shown (see Gans (68)), give rise to the following values for the components:

$$V_{\mathbf{v}} \neq H_{\mathbf{v}} = V_h = H_h \neq 0 \quad \rho_{\mathbf{v}} \neq 0 \quad \rho_h = 1 \quad \rho_u \neq 0 \tag{29}$$

Large isotropic spherical particles should, according to Mie (125), exhibit depolarization at 90°. As the particle size is increased the terms corresponding to the higher electric and magnetic multipoles increase in importance (see equation 16), with a resultant increase in ρ_u . Blumer (17) has calculated the depolarization, ρ_u , for spheres of various sizes and indices of refraction, and the theory has been confirmed by the light-scattering studies of Pokrowski (151) and Lange (111) with colloidal solutions and of van dem Borne (210) with aerosols. The components of the light scattered at 90° for large spherical isotropic particles are given by

$$V_{\mathbf{v}} \neq 0 \quad H_{\mathbf{v}} = V_h = 0 \quad H_h \neq 0 \quad \rho_{\mathbf{v}} = 0 \quad \rho_h = 0 \quad \rho_u \neq 0 \tag{30}$$

The depolarization of light scattered from large anisotropic particles has been calculated by Gans (62). The components for such particles are the superposition of those for the small anisotropic and for the large isotropic particles, or

$$V_v \neq 0 \quad H_v = V_h \neq 0 \quad H_v \neq 0 \quad \rho_v \neq 0 \quad \rho_h \neq 0 \quad \rho_u \neq 0 \tag{31}$$

In all four cases the relation $H_v = V_h$ holds. This is a statement of the reciprocity theorem of optics due to Rayleigh (174) and was found by experiment to be valid for light-scattering systems by Krishnan (97). Perrin (146) has examined the theorem in great detail for light-scattering systems and concludes that the relation is valid for a system of a large number of particles which have no preferred orientation in space. The reciprocity theorem together with equation 27c gives the important relation due to Krishnan (97):

$$\rho_{u} = \frac{1 + \frac{1}{\rho_{h}}}{1 + \frac{1}{\rho_{v}}}$$
(32)

Thus if two of the depolarizations are known, the third may be calculated. This is particularly important in the determination of ρ_h , which is often difficult to measure directly. The Krishnan relation (equation 32) has been confirmed by several investigators with various scattering systems (Krishnan (100), Mueller (132), Boutaric and Breton (20), Hoover, Putnam, and Wittenberg (88), Subbaramaija (202), Ramaiah (156), Gehman and Field (70)).

As seen in equations 28, 29, 30, and 31, a system of isotropic particles irrespective of size gives $\rho_v = 0$ and if the particles are anisotropic, then $0 < \rho_v < 1$. For random coils containing anisotropic segments the net anisotropy of the coils is decreased as the number of segments is increased (Neugebauer (134), Strauss (200), and Kuhn (103)). For small particles irrespective of anisotropy and shape $\rho_h = 1$, but when the particles are comparable in size to the wave length of light and are isotropic $\rho_h < 1$. In the special case of thin rods which are comparable in length to the wave length of light and whose index of refraction along the long axis differs from that perpendicular to it, Gans (69) (compare Vrkljan and Katalinis (216)) calculates that $\rho_h > 1$ (see, however, the recent review by Doty (41)).

The depolarizations can be conveniently determined by the Cornu method described earlier. Another method, due to Krishnan (98), employs two Wollaston prisms. The first divides the incident beam of light into its horizontal and vertical polarized components. The second prism placed at right angles to the scattering cell divides the two scattered beams into the four polarized components V_v , H_v , V_h , and H_h , which may be photographed and compared in intensity (for a detailed discussion of errors of measurement, see Volkmann (215)). Raman (157) has proposed the use of the Babinet compensator (for a general description see, for example, Woods (220, page 356)) to determine the state of polarization of liquids. This method is particularly useful for the determination of ρ_h when ρ_v is small and has been employed by Balakrishnan (8). It

has been the reviewer's experience, however, that the direct measurement of the polarization components can successfully be made with two polaroids or nicols acting as polarizer and analyzer and with a photomultiplier to determine the intensity.

There are two troublesome factors in depolarization measurements which reduce, somewhat, the usefulness of the method. These are the errors due to secondary or multiple scattering and those due to the convergence of the incident light beam. If light scattered from one particle is rescattered, this secondary scattering can result in large values of ρ_u and ρ_v and small values of ρ_h irrespective of the size, shape, or anisotropy of the particles. This problem has been investigated in detail by several workers, including Tichanowsky (205), Rousset (180), and Strauss (200). Tichanowsky (205) applied his theory to light scattering from the sky, which gives a depolarization apparently due to secondary scattering. According to Rousset (180), as a result of secondary scattering the value of ρ_h will depend on the shape of the illuminated volume of the scattering system and will be greater the closer the shape of the volume approaches a cube. The theory has been fully confirmed by Rousset (180) and by Mookerjee (127)in their depolarization studies of liquid mixtures at the critical mixing temperature. Mookerjee (127) has criticized Krishnan for his failure to take secondary scattering into account in his studies of liquids and liquid mixtures (Krishnan (97)). The problem of scattering from liquids and solutions will be considered in detail later in this review. Krishnan has also been criticized by Parthasarathy (145) (see, however, Krishnan (102)) for not correcting his depolarization values for convergence. Because of the finite size of the light source it is impossible to achieve perfectly parallel light in the incident beam. According to Gans (67), the convergence of the incident beam increases ρ_u and ρ_v by a term which is proportional to the square of the angle of convergence. ρ_h is decreased by a term proportional to the square of the convergence angle and inversely proportional to ρ_r , and therefore when there is convergence ρ_h is less than unity although the scattering particles may be of small size. According to Rao (169) (see Bhagavantum (13, Chapter 4)), no convergence correction is necessary if the scattered light comes from a point at the focus of the converging incident beam. In the theory of Strauss (200) the depolarization, ρ_u , for a dilute solution of spheres increases approximately linearly with the turbidity of the sample. The constant of proportionality increases as the size of the incident beam is increased. These results are in agreement with those obtained by Lonti (118). In figure 10 are shown Lonti's depolarization measurements at two different wave lengths for solutions of the hemocyanin of Helix pomatia. The turbidity and therefore the depolarization is greater for the shorter wave length. The depolarization, as does the turbidity, increases with increasing concentration (figure 10A). Figure 10B shows that the depolarization increases nearly linearly with the diameter of the incident beam. For this system, at least, in order to obtain the true depolarization it is necessary to extrapolate to infinite dilution and to small beam diameter. An indication of secondary scattering is usually given when the depolarization of a system is strongly dependent on concentration and wave length. For less turbid systems than that studied by Lonti, secondary scattering may be less important. The necessity of working with extremely dilute solutions in making depolarization measurements of colloidal solutions is clearly shown in the work of Hoover, Putnam, and Wittenberg (88) with bentonite and ferric oxide sols (see also Singh (189)).

In nearly all cases of high-polymeric molecules in solution ρ_v is found to be small (natural rubber, Gehman and Field (70); synthetic rubbers, Tsvetkoff and Frisman (207); cellulose acetate, polyvinyl chloride, and polystyrene, Doty and Kaufman (44); myosin, Lotmar (120); and tobacco mosaic virus, Doty (42) and Oster (141)). This indicates that the molecules are nearly isotropic in solution. It is difficult to evaluate results obtained for ρ_h , since in most cases not enough measurements were taken in the low concentration range to allow



FIG. 10. Depolarization of light scattered at 90° from solutions of hemocyanin (*Helix pomatia*): (A) depolarization as a function of protein concentration; (B) depolarization as a function of incident beam diameter (Lonti (118)).

an extrapolation to infinite dilution (see, however, Gehman and Field (70), Lotmar (120), Doty (42), and Oster (141)). In his studies of ionic solutions, Hogrebe (87) found that the depolarization ρ_u (and therefore ρ_v , since $\rho_h \simeq 1$) when extrapolated to infinite dilution was considerable for unsymmetrical ions. Even symmetrical ions showed a slight depolarization, which Hogrebe attributes to the formation of anisotropic scattering units due to the interaction of the ions and the surrounding water molecules.

The depolarization of scattered light from large colloidal particles oriented by flowing in a tube has been examined by Diesselhorst and Freundlich (39). By making observations of the scattered polarized light perpendicular to and in the direction of flow, they were able to distinguish between spherical, discshaped, and rod-shaped colloidal particles (see Freundlich (57, Volume 2, page 81)). In some ways this resembles the method of flow birefringence (for review, see Edsall (47)). Depolarization studies have also been made on colloidal particles which are oriented with an electric or magnetic field (see, for example, Krishnan (101), Errera, Overbeck, and Sack (51), Mueller (132), Lauffer (113), and Subrahmanya, Doss, and Rao (203)). The theory and experimental results of the electroöptical properties of colloids have been discussed in detail by Heller (83) and by Mueller and Sackmann (133).

III. NON-INDEPENDENT PARTICLES

In the treatment for independent particles given above the particles were considered to be in random positions with respect to one another. For liquids and non-ideal solutions, however, the thermal movements of the constituent members of the scattering system are not independent, and it cannot be expected that the total intensity of scattered light will be the mere summation of the intensities from the individual particles. Some destructive interference will occur and result in a decrease in intensity of scattered light from that expected for the same weight of independent particles. In principle, the phase relationships between the wavelets scattered by the various elements of a condensed system can be computed; however, the mathematical difficulties are circumvented by considering the problem as one in fluctuations. The elementary ideas of the theory of fluctuations have been given by Landau and Lifshitz (109, Chapter 6), Tolman (206, Section 114), and Slater (191, Chapter 7). More complete treatments are given by Fürth (58) and especially by Leontovich (115, Chapter 3). It was clearly shown by Gibbs (71; see especially Chapters 7, 8, and 15) that thermodynamic quantities which are usually measured represent time averages over a large number of molecules. If, however, we consider a small volume in a system, the thermodynamic state of the system described by some thermodynamic quantity x may differ at any instant from the average value \bar{x} . The time average of this deviation, $x - \bar{x}$, may be zero, but if the volume is chosen small enough so as to include only a small number of molecules, the time average of the square of the deviations, or fluctuation, may differ considerably from zero. Also, according to Gibbs, the average value of any quantity in a small volume is the same whether the averaging is taken over a long period of time in the one volume element or whether the instantaneous value for a great number of such volume elements is averaged.

Smoluchowski (192) used the concept of thermodynamic fluctuations to explain the great intensity of scattering observed for liquids near their critical temperatures. According to Smoluchowski, the molecules in a liquid are not distributed uniformly, but rather in any small volume of the liquid the number of particles varies from instant to instant as a consequence of their thermal motions. This local fluctuation in density of particles will give local inhomogeneities in the index of refraction and will scatter light. In the case of liquids, the fluctuations in density are increased as the compressibility is increased and at the critical temperature the light scattering should theoretically be infinite. Smoluchowski's theory was further extended by Einstein (48) for liquid mixtures to include inhomogeneities in the refractive index due to fluctuations in concentration.

The elementary principles of the theory of fluctuations will now be briefly

reviewed, since much of the light-scattering phenomena to be discussed can be explained in terms of this theory.

In order to bring about a change in a given system of some thermodynamic quantity from its average value \bar{x} to some value x, a certain amount of free energy must be expended. The probability of such a change is proportional to

$$e^{-\Delta A/kT} \tag{33}$$

where A is the Helmholtz free energy and $\Delta A = A(x) - A(\bar{x})$. k is Boltzmann's constant, and T is the absolute temperature. Boltzmann's definition of entropy is a special case of equation 33 in which the energy and volume are kept constant. The temperature is assumed constant throughout the fluctuation process. According to equation 33, the probability of a deviation in x decreases rapidly the greater the deviation. If only small deviations about the average value are considered, the free energy difference ΔA may be expanded in a Taylor series in the deviation $\Delta x = x - \bar{x}$, or

$$\Delta A = \left(\frac{\partial A}{\partial x}\right)_{x=\bar{x}} \Delta x + \frac{1}{2!} \left(\frac{\partial^2 A}{\partial x^2}\right)_{x=\bar{x}} (\Delta x)^2 + \frac{1}{3!} \left(\frac{\partial^3 A}{\partial x^3}\right)_{x=\bar{x}} (\Delta x)^3 + \cdots$$
(34)

But $\left(\frac{\partial A}{\partial x}\right)_{x=\dot{x}}$ is zero, since the free energy of a closed system of constant temperature is a minimum at equilibrium. For small deviations, terms higher than the squared term are small, so the free energy difference is given by

$$\Delta A \simeq \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial^2 A}{\partial x^2} \right)_{x = \tilde{x}} (\Delta x)^2 \tag{35}$$

Insertion of this value into equation 33 gives a Gaussian distribution whose second moment or average value (averaged over Δx) of the square of the deviation is

$$\overline{(\Delta x)^2} = \frac{kT}{\left(\frac{\partial^2 A}{\partial x^2}\right)_{z=\bar{z}}}$$
(36)

It can further be shown that the average value of the product of deviations of independent quantities is zero, that is:

$$\overline{\Delta x_i \Delta x_j} = 0 \tag{37}$$

1. Pure liquids

Following Smoluchowski (192) (see also Einstein (48)) we shall consider light scattered from an element of volume δV of the liquid which is small compared with the wave length of the incident light, yet which is sufficiently large to include a great number of molecules (the exact dimensions of the volume element are unimportant for the discussion). The fluctuation in the number of particles in the volume element will result in a fluctuation in the optical dielectric constant. Any particular volume element may be likened to a small particle with optical dielectric constant different from that of the surrounding homogeneous medium in which it is immersed. From equation 4 it is seen that the effective square of the polarizability for the volume δV is given by

$$\frac{(\delta V)^2}{16\pi^2 \epsilon_0^2} \ \overline{(\Delta \epsilon)^2} \tag{38}$$

The inhomogeneities in density of particles are randomly distributed throughout the total volume of the liquid, so that the total intensity of scattering is the sum of the contributions from each of the volume elements. The intensity per unit volume of scattering material is then obtained by inserting the expression for the square of the polarizability, equation 38, into equation 1 and dividing by the sum of the volume elements, or

$$\frac{i}{I_0} = \frac{\pi^2}{2\lambda^4 r^2} \,\overline{(\Delta\epsilon)^2} \delta V(1 + \cos^2\theta) \tag{39}$$

and the turbidity is

$$\tau = \frac{8\pi^3}{3\lambda^4} \,\overline{(\Delta\epsilon)^2} \delta V \tag{40}$$

The optical dielectric constant ϵ is a function of the density σ and the temperature, i.e.

$$\Delta \epsilon = \left(\frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial \sigma}\right)_T \Delta \sigma + \left(\frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial T}\right)_\sigma \Delta T \tag{41}$$

For liquids $\left(\frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial T}\right)_{\sigma}$ is about 10⁻⁵ (Levin (117)) and therefore the second term

on the right of equation 41 is negligible compared with the first term, since $\left(\frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial \sigma}\right)_T$ is of the order of unity. The fluctuation in the optical dielectric constant is then given by

$$\overline{(\Delta\epsilon)^2} = \left(\frac{\partial\epsilon}{\partial\sigma}\right)_T^2 \overline{(\Delta\sigma)^2}$$
(42)

With the use of well-known thermodynamic relations the fluctuation in density for the volume element δV may be shown from equation 36 ($x = \sigma$) to be

$$\overline{(\Delta\sigma)^2} = \frac{kT\beta\sigma^2}{\delta V} \tag{43}$$

where β is the isothermal compressibility. From equation 39 the intensity per unit volume and the turbidity are given by

$$\frac{i}{I_0} = \frac{\pi^2}{2\lambda^4 r^2} \left(\sigma \, \frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial \sigma} \right)_T^2 k T \beta (1 + \cos^2 \theta) \tag{44}$$

and by

$$\tau = \frac{8\pi^3}{3\lambda^4} \left(\sigma \frac{\partial\epsilon}{\partial\sigma}\right)_T^2 kT\beta$$
(45)

GERALD OSTER

It is necessary to relate the optical dielectric constant to the density in order to give a value for $\sigma(\partial \epsilon/\partial \sigma)$ in terms of conveniently observable quantities. The optical dielectric constant of a liquid is conventionally related to the density by the Clausius-Mossotti equation. This equation is derived by considering the electric field in a small region of the liquid as that given by the Lorentz local field (Lorentz (119, page 303)), which is a mathematical device and is subject to criticism on physical grounds (for a critique of Lorentz's theory, see Van Vleck (212)). A more physically plausible treatment of the local field is given by Onsager (135), according to whom the field in a small region of the liquid is that given by the field in a real cavity imbedded in a medium of homogeneous dielectric constant. According to Onsager

$$\frac{(\epsilon - 1)(2\epsilon + 1)}{9\epsilon} = K\sigma \tag{46}$$

where K is a constant for a given liquid. The reviewer has found (unpublished calculations) that equation 46 holds better for liquids and liquid mixtures than does the Clausius-Mossitti equation (for recent data on the variation of index of refraction of liquids and liquid mixtures with density, see Rosen (179)). Equation 46 gives:

$$\sigma \frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial \sigma} = (\epsilon - 1) \left(\frac{2\epsilon^2 + \epsilon}{2\epsilon^2 + 1} \right) \tag{47}$$

Since ϵ is usually less than 2 for most liquids, the second factor in parentheses on the right may, to a close approximation, be taken as unity. The intensity per unit volume and the turbidity then become

$$\frac{i}{I_0} = \frac{\pi^2}{2\lambda^4 r^2} \left(\epsilon - 1\right)^2 kT\beta (1 + \cos^2\theta) \tag{48}$$

$$\tau = \frac{8\pi^3}{3\lambda^4} \left(\epsilon - 1\right)^2 kT\beta \tag{49}$$

A similar result was obtained by Ramanathan (167), using a different and somewhat questionable physical argument.

Equations 48 and 49 must be further modified to correct for the depolarization of the scattered light. According to Ramanathan (166, 167) equations 48 and 49 must be multiplied by the Cabannes factors equations 14 and 15, respectively, to account for the fluctuations in orientation. The depolarization ρ_u used is that observed for the liquid.

The early work of Keesom (93) on ethylene and the later work of Ramanathan (166), Venkateswaran (214), Martin and Lehrman (123), Krishnan (96), Raman and Ramanathan (161), Cabannes (25, part 1), Peyrot (147), and Rao (170) on several other liquids shows general agreement with equation 48. Rao (170) has studied a few liquids over a wide range of temperatures. He found that equation 48 with its appropriate depolarization factor held very closely up to temperatures a few degrees below the critical temperature. Use of the Clausius-

Mossotti equation relating the optical dielectric constant and the density gave, however, values of the intensity which were greater than those observed.

In general, the depolarization for liquids is five or more times greater than that exhibited by the molecules in the gaseous state. The depolarization for normal alcohols increases with increasing length and greater anisotropy of the carbon chain, but for fatty acids there are alternations in the depolarization with increasing carbon chain length which resemble the marked alternation in melting points and dissociation constants exhibited by these compounds. More recent data on the depolarization by liquids have been compiled by Cabannes and Rousset (26) (see Peyrot (148), who also discusses error of measurement). The larger values of the depolarization of the molecules in the liquid state are attributed by Raman and Krishnan (159, 160) to the polarizability induced by the surrounding medium. If the inner field is treated as homogeneous and of the Lorentz type, the calculated depolarization for liquids is too high. Raman and Krishnan (159, 160) therefore treat the molecules and their immediate surrounding fluid as polarizable ellipsoids and calculate depolarizations for some longchain hydrocarbons which are in fair agreement with observed values. They also apply these concepts to the Kerr effect for non-polar liquids. Mueller (131) has criticized the treatment of Raman and Krishnan for its failure to consider the possibility of hindered rotation between molecules in the condensed state. The theory of Mueller has, however, certain drawbacks, since it is based on the Lorentz inner field and on the cybotactic theory of liquids. According to the cybotactic theory due to Stewart (197) there are, at any instant in the liquid, groups of as many as a hundred molecules which are in a relatively ordered array and which are rapidly exchanging members with the continuous region between them. Although it is possible that for liquids consisting of long-chain molecules (and particularly those investigated by Stewart which contain OH and COOH groups) there exist such groups (see Frenkel (56, Chapter 5, Section 10) for the conditions of stability of cybotactic groups), more recent x-ray data of ordinary liquids (Warren (218), Ginrich (72)) indicate that in most liquids only local order exists and extends over mainly the first shell of nearest neighbors (for a critical discussion see Prins (153), and especially Bernal (11)). In view of the criticisms discussed earlier by Mookerjee (127) and by Parthasarathy (145) of the depolarization results of R. S. Krishnan, it cannot be claimed at the present time that the depolarization studies prove the existence of cybotactic groups. In the case of liquid crystals, however, Chatelain (28) (see also Zwetkov (227)) in his light-scattering studies has shown the presence of molecular groupings comparable in size to the wave length of the incident light. The theory of dielectrics of Onsager (135) has been extended by Kirkwood (95) to include the case of hindered rotation of the molecules, so that the means are at hand to develop a complete theory of depolarization of non-polar and polar liquids. The theory would also be suitable to explain the Kerr effect for these liquids. In the case of highly elongated molecules it would be necessary to modify the Onsager local field.

GERALD OSTER

2. Non-ideal solutions

The extension by Einstein (48) of Smoluchowski's theory (192) to include liquid mixtures is suitable for any solution as long as the particles are small compared to the wave length of the incident light. If they are not, a correction factor for the dissymmetry of the scattering must be applied. According to Einstein (48) fluctuations in the concentration in an element of volume δV will be large; and since, in general, the optical dielectric constants of the solute and the solvent differ, the resultant fluctuation in the optical dielectric constant will cause light to be scattered. The fluctuation in concentration may be determined from equation 36 (see Gibbs (71, Chapter 15)). The fluctuation in dielectric constant is related to the fluctuation in concentration of the solute (for convenience the concentration of the solute *c* is given in grams per milliliter of solution) by

$$\overline{(\Delta\epsilon)^2} = \left(\frac{\partial\epsilon}{\partial c}\right)^2 \overline{(\Delta c)^2}$$
(50)

where

$$\overline{(\Delta c)^2} = \frac{kT}{\left(\frac{\partial^2 A}{\partial c^2}\right)_{\overline{c},\overline{v}}}$$

Now

$$\left(\frac{\partial A}{\partial c}\right)_{\tilde{c},\nu} = \mu_0 \frac{\partial \nu_0}{\partial c} \tag{51}$$

where μ_0 is the Gibbs chemical potential of the solvent and ν_0 is the number of solvent molecules per milliliter of solution. For the volume element δV , the variation in number of solvent molecules with the variation in the concentration of the solute is given closely by

$$\frac{\partial \nu_0}{\partial c} = -\frac{N\delta V}{\bar{V}_0 \,\bar{c}} \tag{52}$$

where N is Avogadro's number and \bar{V}_0 is the partial molal volume of the solvent. Insertion of equation 50 with equations 51 and 52 into equation 40 gives for the turbidity (at this point the average solute concentration will be written as c)

$$\tau = \frac{8\pi^3}{3\lambda^4} \frac{RT\bar{V}_0 c}{N\left(-\frac{\partial\mu_0}{\partial c}\right)} \left(\frac{\partial\epsilon}{\partial c}\right)^2$$
(53)

where R is the gas constant. If the system exhibits depolarization, equation 53 must be multiplied by the Cabannes factor (equation 15).

Equation 53 gives the light scattering in terms of the thermodynamic properties of the solvent. The osmotic pressure P of a solution is related to the chemical potential of the solvent by $P\overline{V}_0 = -N\mu_0$ and gives for equation 53:

$$\tau = \frac{8\pi^3}{3\lambda^4} \frac{RTc}{N\left(\frac{\partial P}{\partial c}\right)} \left(\frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial c}\right)^2$$
(54)

Equation 54 is in the form given by Raman and Ramanathan (161) and by Debye (33, 34). For dilute solutions, the osmotic pressure may be written in terms of the molecular weight M of the solute and of the solute concentration by

$$P = \frac{c}{M}RT + Bc^2 \tag{55}$$

where B is a measure of the deviation from ideality. In the limit of $c \to 0$ we obtain for ideal solutions, after the contribution of the scattering of the solvent has been subtracted (the contribution from density fluctuations of the solute is negligible),

$$H\left(\frac{c}{\tau}\right)_{c=0} = \frac{1}{M}$$
 where $H = \frac{8\pi^3}{3N\lambda^4} \left(\frac{\partial\epsilon}{\partial c}\right)^2$ (56)

which is identical with equation 10. For dilute solutions the turbidity may be written in the form

$$H\frac{c}{\tau} = \frac{1}{M} + \frac{2Bc}{RT}$$
(57)

A plot of $H(c/\tau)$ versus c gives a straight line whose intercept is the reciprocal of the molecular weight of the solvent and whose slope is determined by B. Doty, Zimm, and Mark (46) have determined the molecular weights of fractions of polystyrene and cellulose acetate by this method and obtain results which are in agreement with direct osmotic-pressure measurements of these samples. Similar studies have been made by P. P. Debye (37) of polymers which had been subject to milling. In their work on cellulose acetate, Stein and Doty (194) corrected the molecular weights obtained by extrapolation with the dissymmetry factor. A similar procedure was adopted by Oster, Doty, and Zimm (142), who obtained a molecular weight for tobacco mosaic virus in agreement with that obtained by other methods.

As shown by Zimm and Doty (224), the molecular weight obtained by the light-scattering method is the weight-average molecular weight, because, as may be seen directly from Rayleigh's equation, the intensity of scattering is proportional to the number of scatterers and to the square of their volumes or molecular weights. According to Zimm and Doty (224) the curvature of the $H(c/\tau)$ versus c curve is determined by the higher moments of the molecular weights of the sample. In principle, the spread of the molecular weight distribution could be determined from the curvature. In practice, however, this is not feasible because of the relatively poor ability of the light-scattering method to resolve different sizes (Waser, Badger, and Schomaker (219)). The slope of the linear portion of the curve determines the value of B, which can be related to the size and shape of the solute molecules and to their interactions with each other and with the solvent. In general, the greater the solubility and the more the particles deviate from spherical shape, the greater the slope. If the molecular weight of the polymer is the same in different solvents, the curves should converge at zero concentration of the polymer. Ewart, Roe, Debye, and McCartney (52) have found, however, that this is not the case for polystyrene in various mixtures of benzene and methanol (see figure 11). These workers attribute the lack of convergence at infinite dilution to selective absorption of benzene by the polystyrene and not to any changes in the molecular weight of polystyrene in the various solvent mixtures. The alcohol serves as a precipitant, and the turbidity is increased considerably by its presence in small quantities well below the concentration necessary for two-phase separation. Ewart, Roe, Debye, and Mc-Cartney have shown that the magnitude of the selective absorption can be determined by turbidity measurements. In the case of a solvent-precipitant pair, such as butanone and 2-propanol, which have nearly equal refractive indices, or in the case of a pure liquid solvent or a solvent mixture in which no selective absorption by the solute occurs, the $H(c/\tau)$ versus c curves converge at infinite dilution. For further discussion of applications to high-polymeric systems see the recent review by Mark (121a).



FIG. 11. Reciprocal specific turbidity as a function of concentration of polystyrene in benzene-methanol mixtures (Debye (34); Ewart, Roe, Debye, and McCartney (52)).

3. Liquids at the critical temperature

When a liquid is brought to its critical temperature or when a liquid mixture is brought to its critical temperature of mixing, it assumes a milky opalescence on illumination with white light. The theories of Smoluchowski (192) and of Einstein (48) properly explain the large scattering exhibited by such systems near the critical temperature but predict too high an intensity of scattering for systems very close to or at the critical temperature. Furthermore, several authorshavefound that in addition to there being less scattering than is to be expected from equation 48, the scattering is proportional to $1/\lambda^2$ rather than to $1/\lambda^4$ (Zernicke (221), Andant (2), and Bhattacharya (14)). Ornstein and Zernicke (136) attribute the discrepancy with the Smoluchowski–Einstein theory to failure to consider the influence of deviations of density or concentration in one volume element on those in another volume element. According to Ornstein and Zernicke (137) the mean value of the product of the deviations in one volume element and those in another is not zero as in equation 37, but is proportional to the radial distribution of the molecules about any one molecule (compare Zimm (222)). In place of equation 48, Ornstein and Zernicke obtain for the intensity of scattering per unit volume

$$\frac{i}{I_0} = \frac{\pi^2 (\epsilon - 1)^2}{2\lambda^4 r^2} \frac{kT(1 + \cos^2 \theta)}{\frac{1}{\beta} + \left(\frac{2\pi g}{\lambda} \sin \frac{\theta}{2}\right)^2}$$
(58)

where g is a measure of the size of the sphere of influence of the intermolecular forces. At temperatures below the critical temperature the second term in the denominator is negligible compared to $1/\beta$ and equation 58 reduces to equation 48. Very close to or at the critical temperature, however, the compressibility, β , is very great, and the second term in the denominator predominates; and therefore the intensity becomes proportional to $1/\lambda^2$. The quantity g can be obtained from experiment and has been given in terms of the radial distribution function by Ornstein and Zernicke (137). Some objections to the more explicit definition of g have been raised by Placzek (150) and by Rocard (178); however, equation 58 reproduces the general features of the scattering at the critical temperature. Mueller (131) has extended the theory to take into account non-independent fluctuations in the orientation of anisotropic molecules.

Rousset (180) has examined several liquid mixtures at the critical mixing temperature. He has observed the dissymmetry in scattering which is predicted by equation 58 when the second term in the denominator predominates.

The light-scattering method is also useful for studying phase changes besides those which occur at the critical temperature. It could be used, for example, to detect possible premelting at temperatures just below the melting point of a solid (Ubbelohde (209); for theory, see Frenkel (56, chapter 7, Section 3)) and to determine the kinetics of phase changes. The light-scattering method has been used by Donnan and Krishnamurti (40) to study sol-gel transformations. They found that for agar solutions the intensity and depolarization of scattered light increase markedly when the sol is transformed into a gel on cooling. These authors attribute this change in scattering to the formation of micelles in the gel. Tobacco mosaic`virus gels, however, show less scattering than that of the sols because the gel is an ordered structure (Bernal and Fankuchen (12), Oster (141)).

4. Interfaces

It was early recognized by Smoluchowski (192) that there should be increased scattering by the surface of a liquid as the critical temperature is approached, because of the increased density fluctuations. Mandelstam (121) soon after developed a theory of the scattering of surfaces which is the two-dimensional analog of the volume scattering of Ornstein and Zernicke (136, 137). According to Mandelstam, at temperatures below the critical temperature the intensity of scattering from a surface, i_* , per unit area of surface is given by

$$\frac{i_s}{I_0} = \frac{4kT(\epsilon - 1)^2}{\gamma\lambda^2 r^2}f$$
(59)

GERALD OSTER

where f is a function of the angles of incidence and of observation and depends on the degree of polarization of the incident beam and γ is the interfacial tension. As the surface tension is decreased, the density fluctuations at the surface increase and the intensity of scattering increases. The theory has been extended by Gans (64) to include liquid metal surfaces and the general theory has been modified slightly by Gans (66) and by Andronov and Leontovich (4). Detailed investigations by Raman and Ramdas on the intensity of light scattered from surfaces of metallic liquids (162), of transparent liquids (163), and of liquid carbon dioxide near the critical temperature (164) show good agreement with Mandelstam's theory. The scattered light which is usually observed close to the beam reflected from the surface does not, however, show exact agreement in angular distribution predicted by the theory (Ramdas (168); see also Jagannathan (89) and Hariharan (82)).

Raman and Ramdas (164) found that the intensity of scattering increased when surface-active agents were applied to water. The light-scattering method affords a convenient method for studying surface films especially as regards their continuity (see Zocher and Stiebel (226) and Adams (1)) and could also be used to study the orientation of molecules at surfaces. Schaeffer (183) has studied the light-scattering properties of monolayers on metallic surfaces. Since in equation 59 γ refers to the interfacial tension, the light-scattering method provides a simple way to determine the interfacial tension.

5. Fine structure of the Rayleigh line

Fine structure was first observed by Gross (75) in an examination, under high resolution, of light scattered at 90° by liquids. In general, one observes with a spectroscope or interferometer that the scattered light consists of three lines: an undisplaced center line and two lines on either side with wave lengths slightly different from that of the incident light. Usually these lines can be distinguished from the Raman scattering of the liquid. The displaced lines can be attributed to the Doppler shift of the scattered radiation which is reflected from the system of Debye sound waves excited by thermal energy (Brillouin (22), Leontovich and Mandelstam (116); see also Frenkel (56, Chapter 4, Section 8)).⁷ According to Landau and Placzek (110), the undisplaced line, which in general is brighter, is due to entropy fluctuations which vary relatively slowly with time. The ratio of the intensity of the center undisplaced line, I_c , to the intensities of the displaced doublets, $2I_d$, is given by Landau and Placzek (110) as

$$\frac{I_c}{2I_d} = \frac{C_p - C_v}{C_v} \tag{60}$$

where C_p and C_v are the specific heats at constant pressure and volume, respectively. A complete derivation of this formula is given by Gross (78). The

¹ Added in proof: A. B. Bhatia and K. S. Krishnan (Proc. Roy. Soc. (London) **A192**, 181 (1948)) have shown that the intensity of the displaced lines is given by the same expression derived by I. Waller (Uppsala Univ. Årssk. (1925)) for x-ray scattering from substances when thermal vibrations are taken into account.

ratio of the intensities of the central line to that of the doublets is given by the ratio of the contributions to the fluctuations in the optical dielectric constant due to fluctuations in entropy and those due to fluctuations in pressure associated with ordinary sound waves, or

$$\frac{I_c}{2I_d} = \frac{\left(\frac{\partial v}{\partial s}\right)_p^2 \overline{(\Delta S)^2}}{\left(\frac{\partial v}{\partial p}\right)_s^2 \overline{(\Delta p)^2}}$$
(61)

With the aid of equation 36 and some well-known thermodynamic relations, equation 61 leads to the Landau and Placzek formula, equation 60. Gross (76) and Birus (15) (see also Meyer and Ramm (123a) and Ramm (168a)) found that this formula held for a few liquids. For some substances, for example water and quartz, $C_p \simeq C_v$, so the center line is very feeble. However, for a number of other liquids, e.g., benzene, the center line has a greater intensity than that given by the Landau and Placzek formula (Gross (76), Venkateswaren (213)). The very intense center line can, in several cases, be attributed to orientation fluctuations by anisotropic molecules and is highly depolarized (Gross (77), Venkateswaran (213)). The intensity of the center line is increased with increasing viscosity, that is, with increasing rotational relaxation time of the anisotropic molecules (see Leontovich (114)). However, it has been found by Gross and Siromyatnikov (81) and by Bai (6) that for very viscous liquids which do not contain anisotropic molecules, the center line is of greater intensity than that predicted by the Landau and Placzek formula and is not depolarized. This result is as yet not completely explained, but even in the absence of a complete theory it is clear that the ratio of intensities of the center line to that of the doublets is a measure of the amount of thermal energy apportioned between the pressure and the entropy fluctuations. A study of the Rayleigh scattering lines for certain solids gives some information about molecular rotation in solids (Gross and Raskin (79)).

According to Ginsburg (74), the widths of the lines must be considered when their intensities are determined. He has related the width of the central line to the heat conductivity and the width of the doublets to the absorption of sound in the liquid. Recent work by Gross and Raskin (79), by Fabelinsky (53), and by Vuks (217) on the detailed structure of the Rayleigh lines indicates confirmation of Ginsburg's theory.

In view of the extraordinary physical properties of helium II, especially its ability to propagate two types of sound waves, it might be expected that this substance would show unusual fine structure of the Rayleigh scattering (for discussion, see Ginsburg (73) and Argawala and Chowdri (5)), but no experimental results on the fine structure have as yet been reported. Jakovlev (90) has found that the intensity of scattering by helium II below 2° A. is that given by equation 48. As Ginsburg (73) has pointed out, the observed intensity is that expected from Landau's theory of helium II and is less by a factor of ten thousand than that for a condensed Bose-Einstein gas calculated by Fusov, Belinsky, and

Galanin (59) (see also Singh (188), Schiff (184), and Galanin (60)). Incidentally, Fusov, Belinsky, and Galanin (59) have also calculated the light scattering from a Fermi-Dirac gas and derive results which explain the incoherent part of the scattering of x-rays by metals (see also the interesting treatment by Frenkel (54, Chapter 6, Section 35) of electrical conductivity as a problem in fluctuation scattering). In their theoretical treatment of the fluctuations they use the Bose-Einstein and Fermi-Dirac distributions instead of the Maxwell-Boltzmann distribution given by equation 33.

IV. References

- (1) ADAM, N. K.: Trans. Faraday Soc. 29, 90 (1933).
- (2) ANDANT, A.: Compt. rend. 176, 430 (1923); Ann. phys. 1, 346 (1924).
- (3) ANDREASON, A. H. M.: Tek. Tid. 76 (1946).
- (4) ANDRONOV, A., AND LEONOTOVICH, M.: Z. Physik 38, 485 (1926).
- (5) ARGAWALA, B. K., AND CHOWDRI, A. G.: Nature 160, 750 (1947).
- (6) BAI, K. S.: Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. A13, 439 (1941); A15, 338, 349, 357 (1942).
- (7) BAILEY, E. D.: Ind. Eng. Chem., Anal. Ed. 18, 365 (1946).
- (8) BALAKRISHMAN, T. A. S.: Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. A14, 235 (1941).
- (9) BARDWELL, J., AND SIVERTZ, C.: Can. J. Research B25, 255 (1947).
- (10) BARNETT, C. E.: J. Phys. Chem. 46, 69 (1942).
- (11) BERNAL, J. D.: Trans. Faraday Soc. 33, 27 (1937).
- (12) BERNAL, J. D., AND FANKUCHEN, I.: J. Gen. Physiol. 25, 11 (1941).
- (13) BHAGAVANTUM, S.: Scattering of Light and the Raman Effect. Chemical Publishing Co., Inc., Brooklyn, New York (1942).
- (14) BHATTACHARYA, D. K.: Proc. Indian Assoc. Cultivation Sci. 8, 277 (1923).
- (15) BIRUS, K.: Physik. Z. 39, 80 (1938).
- (16) BISCOE, J., AND WARREN, B. E.: J. Applied Phys. 13, 364 (1942).
- (17) BLUMER, H.: Z. Physik 32, 119 (1925); 38, 304 (1926).
- (18) BORN, M.: Ann. Physik 55, 177 (1918).
- (19) BORN, M.: Optik. J. Springer, Berlin (1933).
- (20) BOUTARIC, A., AND BRETON, J.: J. chim. phys. 36, 193 (1936).
- (21) BRESLER, S., AND FRENKEL, J.: Acta Physicochim. U.R.S.S. 11, 487 (1939).
- (22) BRILLOUIN, L.: Ann. phys. 17, 88 (1922).
- (23) CABANNES, J.: Compt. rend. 160, 62 (1915).
- (24) CABANNES, J.: Ann. phys. 15, 5 (1921).
- (25) CABANNES, J., AND ROCARD, Y.: La diffusion moléculaire de la lumière. Les Presses Universtaires de France, Paris (1929).
- (26) CABANNES, J., AND ROUSSET, A.: Tables annueles de constantes et donneès numériques, Vol. 16. Hermann et Cie, Paris (1937).
- (27) CASPERSSON, T.: Kolloid-Z. 60, 151 (1932); 65, 162 (1933).
- (28) CHATELAIN, P.: Compt. rend. 218, 652 (1944); 222, 229 (1946).
- (29) CLEWELL, D. H.: J. Optical Soc. Am. 31, 521 (1941).
- (30) COMPTON, A. H., AND ALLISON, S. K.: X-Rays in Theory and Experiment. D. Van Nostrand Co., Inc., New York (1935).
- (31) DEBYE, P.: Ann. Physik 30, 59 (1909).
- (32) DEBYE, P.: Lecture given at the Polytechnic Institute of Brooklyn, Brooklyn, New York, November 25, 1944.
- (33) DEBYE, P.: J. Applied Phys. 15, 338 (1944).
- (34) DEBYE, P.: J. Phys. Colloid Chem. 51, 18 (1947).
- (35) DEBYE, P., AND MENKE, H.: Forts. Röntgenforschung 2, 1 (1931).
- (36) DEBYE, P. P.: Thesis, Cornell University, 1944.

360

- (37) DEBYE, P. P.: J. Applied Phys. 17, 392 (1946).
- (38) DE VORE, J. R., AND PFUND, A. H.: J. Optical Soc. An. 37, 826 (1947).
- (39) DIESSELHORST, H., AND FREUNDLICH, H.: Physik. Z. 17, 117 (1916).
- (40) DONNAN, F. G., AND KRISHNAMURTI, K.: Colloid Symposium Monograph 7, 1 (1930).
- (41) DOTY, P. M.: J. Polymer Sci., in press.
- (42) DOTY, P. M.: Personal communication.
- (43) DOTY, P. M., AFFENS, W. A., AND ZIMM, B. H.: Trans. Faraday Soc. 42B, 66 (1946).
- (44) DOTY, P., AND KAUFMAN, H. S.: J. Phys. Chem. 49, 453 (1945).
- (45) DOTY, P., WAGNER, H., AND SINGER, S.: J. Phys. Colloid Chem. 51, 1 (1947).
- (46) DOTY, P. M., ZIMM, B. H., AND MARK, H.: J. Chem. Phys. 14, 43 (1946).
- (47) EDSALL, J. T.: In Advances in Colloid Science, Vol. 1. Interscience Publishers, Inc., New York (1942).
- (48) EINSTEIN, A.: Ann. Physik 33, 1275 (1910).
- (49) ENGELHARD, H., AND FREISS, H.: Kolloid-Z. 81, 129 (1937).
- (50) EPSTEIN, P. S.: Encykl. Math. Wiss. 5, Part 3, p. 513.
- (51) ERRERA, J., OVERBECK, W., AND SACK, H.: J. chim. phys. 32, 681 (1935).
- (52) EWART, R. H., ROE, C. P., DEBYE, P., AND MCCARTNEY, J. R.: J. Chem. Phys. 14, 687 (1946).
- (53) FABELINSKY, I. L.: Bull. acad. sci. U.R.S.S. (Sér. phys.) 9, 186 (1945).
- (54) FRENKEL, J.: Wave Mechanics. Oxford University Press, London (1932).
- (55) FRENKEL, J.: Acta Physicochim. U.R.S.S. 19, 51 (1944).
- (56) FRENKEL, J.: Kinetic Theory of Liquids. Oxford University Press, London (1946).
- (57) FREUNDLICH, H.: Kapillarchemie, 4th edition. Akademische Verlagsgesellschaft, Leipzig (1930).
- (58) FURTH, R.: Chapter 6 in Handbuch der Physik, Vol. 4. J. Springer, Berlin (1929).
- (59) FUSOV, V., BELINSKI, S., AND GALININ, A.: Ucheniye Zapiski, No. 74, 59 (1944).
- (60) GALANIN, A.: J. Exptl. Theoret. Phys. (U.R.S.S.) 10, 1267 (1940).
- (61) GANS, R.: Ann. Physik 37, 881 (1912).
- (62) GANS, R.: Ann. Physik 62, 330 (1920).
- (63) GANS, R.: Z. Physik 27, 164 (1924).
- (64) GANS, R.: Ann. Physik 74, 231 (1924).
- (65) GANS, R.: Ann. Physik 76, 29 (1925).
- (66) GANS, R.: Ann. Physik 79, 204 (1926).
- (67) GANS, R.: Physik. Z. 28, 661 (1927).
- (68) GANS, R.: Handbuch der experimental Physik, Vol. 19. Akademische Verlagsgesellschaft, Leipzig (1928).
- (69) GANS, R.: Physik. Z. 37, 19 (1936).
- (70) GEHMAN, S. D., AND FIELD, J. E.: Ind. Eng. Chem. 29, 793 (1937).
- (71) GIBBS, J. W.: Elementary Principles in Statistical Mechanics. Yale University Press, New Haven (1902).
- (72) GINRICH, N. S.: Rev. Modern Phys. 15, 90 (1943).
- (73) GINSBURG, V. L.: J. Phys. (U.S.S.R.) 7, 305 (1943).
- (74) GINSBURG, V. L.: Compt. rend. acad. sci. U.R.S.S. 42, 168 (1944); Bull. acad. sci. U.R.S.S. (Sér. phys.) 9, 174 (1945).
- (75) GROSS, E.: Nature 126, 201 (1930).
- (76) GROSS, E.: Nature **126**, 400 (1930).
- (77) GROSS, E.: Compt. rend. acad. sci. U.R.S.S. 28, 786 (1940).
- (78) GROSS, E.: Acta Physicochim. U.R.S.S. 20, 459 (1945).
- (79) GROSS, E., AND RASKIN, S.: Bull. acad. sci. U.R.S.S. (Sér. phys.) 9, 184 (1945).
- (80) GROSS, E., AND RASKIN, A.: Acta Physicochim. U.R.S.S. 17, 127 (1942).
- (81) GROSS, E., AND SIROMYATNIKOV, A.: Compt. rend. acad. sci. U.R.S.S. 28, 786 (1940).
- (82) HARIHARAN, P. S.: Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. A16, 290 (1942).
- (83) HELLER, W.: Rev. Modern Phys. 14, 390 (1942).
- (84) HELLER, W.: Phys. Rev. 68, 5 (1945).

- (85) HELLER, W., KLEVENS, H. B., AND OPPENHEIMER, H.: J. Chem. Phys. 14, 560 (1946).
- (86) Heller, W., and Vassy, E.: J. Chem. Phys. 14, 505 (1946).
- (87) HOGREBE, K.: Physik. Z. 39, 23 (1938).
- (88) HOOVER, C. R., PUTNAM, F. W., AND WITTENBERG, E. G.: J. Phys. Chem. 46, 81(1942).
- (89) JAGANNATHAN, S.: Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. A1, 115 (1934).
- (90) JAKOVLEV, I. A.: J. Phys. (U.S.S.R.) 7, 307 (1943).
- (90a) JEANS, J.: Electricity and Magnetism, 5th edition. Cambridge University Press, London (1925).
- (91) JOBST, G.: Ann. Physik 78, 157 (1925).
- (91a) JOHNSON, I., AND LA MER, V. K.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 69, 1184 (1947).
- (92) KEEN, B. A., AND PORTER, A. W.: Proc. Roy. Soc. (London) A89, 370 (1913).
- (93) KEESOM, H.: Ann. Physik 35, 591 (1911).
- (94) KERR, J.: Phil. Mag. 50, 337 (1875).
- (95) KIRKWOOD, J. G.: J. Chem. Phys. 7, 911 (1939).
- (96) KRISHNAN, K. S.: Phil. Mag. 50, 697 (1925).
- (97) KRISHNAN, R. S.: Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. A1, 211 (1934); A2, 221 (1935); A3, 126 (1936).
- (98) KRISHNAN, R. S.: Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. A1, 782 (1935).
- (99) KRISHNAN, R. S.: Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. A1, 793 (1935).
- (100) KRISHNAN, R. S.: Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. A5, 94, 305, 407, 499, 551, 577 (1937).
- (101) KRISHNAN, R. S.: Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. A7, 91 (1938).
- (102) KRISHNAN, R. S.: Phil. Mag. 29, 575 (1940).
- (103) KUHN, H.: Helv. Chim. Acta 29, 432 (1946).
- (104) KUHN, W.: Kolloid-Z. 62, 269 (1933).
- (105) KUHN, W.: Kolloid-Z. 68, 2 (1934).
- (106) LAMER, V. K.: J. Phys. Colloid Chem. 52, 65 (1948).
- (107) LAMER, V. K., AND BARNES, M. D.: J. Colloid Sci. 1, 71 (1946).
- (108) LANDSHOFF, R.: J. Phys. Chem. 46, 778 (1942).
- (109) LANDAU, L., AND LIFSHITZ, E.: Statistical Physics. Oxford University Press, London (1938).
- (110) LANDAU, L., AND PLACZEK, G.: Sowjet. Phys. 5, 172 (1934).
- (111) LANGE, B.: Z. physik. Chem. 132, 1, 27 (1928).
- (112) LANGEVIN, P.: J. phys. 7, 249 (1910).
- (113) LAUFFER, M. A.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 74, 147 (1939).
- (114) LEONTOVICH, M.: J. Phys. (U.S.S.R.) 4, 499 (1941).
- (115) LEONTOVICH, M.: Statistikaya Fizika. OGIZ, Moscow (1944).
- (116) LEONTOVICH, M., AND MANDELSTAM, S.: Physik. Z. Sowjetunion 1, 317 (1932).
- (117) LEVIN, L. M.: Bull. acad. sci. U.R.S.S. (Sér phys.) 4, 111 (1940).
- (118) LONTI, R.: Mededeel. Koninkl. Vlaam. Acad. Wetenschap. Belg. Klasse Wetenschap. 6, 5 (1944).
- (119) LORENTZ, H. A.: Theory of Electrons. Teubner, Leipzig (1909).
- (120) LOTMAR, W.: Helv. Chim. Acta 21, 953 (1938).
- (121) MANDELSTAM, L.: Ann. Physik 74, 231 (1924).
- (121a) MARK, H.: In Frontiers of Chemistry, Vol. 5. Interscience Publishers, Inc., New York (1948).
- (122) MARTIN, W. H.: Proc. Roy. Soc. Canada 3 (1923).
- (123) MARTIN, W. H., AND LEHRMAN, S.: J. Phys. Chem. 27, 558 (1923).
- (123a) MEYER, E. H., AND RAMM, W.: Physik. Z. 33, 370 (1932).
- (124) MIDDLETON, W. E. K.: Visibility in Meteorology, 2nd edition. University of Toronto Press, Toronto, Canada (1941).
- (125) MIE, G.: Ann. Physik 25, 377 (1908).
- (126) Möglich, F.: Ann. Physik 83, 609 (1927).
- (127) MOOKERJEE, B. K.: Indian J. Phys. 12, 15 (1938).

- (128) MOTT, N. F., AND MASSEY, H. S. W.: The Theory of Atomic Collisions. Oxford University Press, London (1933).
- (129) MOTT, N. F., AND JONES, J.: The Theory and Properties of Metals and Alloys. Oxford University Press, London (1936).
- (130) MUELLER, H.: Phys. Rev. 50, 547 (1936).
- (131) MUELLER, H.: Proc. Roy. Soc. (London) A166, 425 (1938).
- (132) MUELLER, H.: Phys. Rev. 55, 508 (1939).
- (133) MUELLER, H., AND SACKMANN, B. W.: J. Optical Soc. Am. 32, 309 (1944).
- (134) NEUGEBAUER, T.: Ann. Physik 42, 509 (1943).
- (135) ONSAGER, L.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 58, 1486 (1936).
- (136) ORNSTEIN, L. S., AND ZERNICKE, F.: Proc. Roy. Acad. Sci. Amsterdam 17, 793 (1914).
- (137) ORNSTEIN, L. S., AND ZERNICKE, F.: Physik. Z. 27, 761 (1926).
- (138) OSTER, G.: Science 103, 306 (1946).
- (139) OSTER, G.: J. Colloid Sci. 2, 291 (1947).
- (140) OSTER, G.: J. Gen. Physiol. 31, 89 (1947).
- (141) OSTER, G.: Data to be published.
- (142) OSTER, G., DOTY, P. M., AND ZIMM, B. H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 69, 1193 (1947).
- (143) OSTWALD, W.: Licht und Farbe in Kolloiden. Th. Steinkopff, Dresden (1924).
- (144) PARANJPE, G. R., NAIK, G. Y., AND VAIDYA, P. B.: Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. A9, 333, 352 (1939).
- (145) PARTHASARATHY, S.: Phil. Mag. 29, 148 (1940).
- (146) PERRIN, F.: J. Chem. Phys. 10, 415 (1942).
- (147) PEYROT, P.: Compt. rend. 203, 1512 (1936).
- (148) PETROT, P.: Ann. phys. 9, 335 (1938).
- (149) PIRENNE, M. H.: Diffraction of X-Rays and Electrons by Free Molecules. Cambridge University Press, London (1946).
- (150) PLACZEK, G.: Physik. Z. 31, 1052 (1930).
- (151) POKROWSKI, G. I.: Z. Physik 41, 493 (1927); 60, 850 (1930).
- (152) PONDER, E.: In *Medical Physics* (O. Glasser, *Editor*). The Year Book Publishers, Inc., Chicago (1944).
- (153) PRINS, J. A.: Trans. Faraday Soc. 33, 110 (1937).
- (154) PUTZEYS, P., AND BROSTEAUX, J.: Trans. Faraday Soc. 31, 1314 (1935).
- (155) PUTZEYS, P., AND BROSTEAUX, J.: Mededeel. Koninkl. Vlaam. Acad. Wetenschap. Belg. Klasse Wetenschap. 3, 3 (1941).
- (156) RAMAIAH, K. S.: Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. A5, 138 (1937).
- (157) RAMAN, C. V.: Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. A14, 228 (1941).
- (158) RAMAN, C. V., AND KRISHNAN, K. S.: Phil. Mag. 3, 713 (1927).
- (159) RAMAN, C. V., AND KRISHNAN, K. S.: Proc. Roy. Soc. (London) A117, 1, 589 (1927).
- (160) RAMAN, C. V., AND KRISHNAN, K. S.: Phil. Mag. 5, 498 (1928).
- (161) RAMAN, C. V., AND RAMANATHAN, K. R.: Phil. Mag. 45, 213 (1923).
- (162) RAMAN, C. V., AND RAMDAS, L. A.: Proc. Roy. Soc. (London) A108, 561 (1925).
- (163) RAMAN, C. V., AND RAMDAS, L. A.: Proc. Roy. Soc. (London) A109, 150 (1925).
- (164) RAMAN, C. V., AND RAMDAS, L. A.: Proc. Roy. Soc. (London) A109, 272 (1925).
- (165) RAMAN, C. V., AND RAY, B.: Proc. Roy. Soc. (London) A100, 102 (1921).
- (166) RAMANATHAN, K. R.: Proc. Roy. Soc. (London) A102, 151 (1922).
- (167) RAMANATHAN, K. R.: Indian J. Phys. 1, 413 (1927).
- (168) RAMDAS, L. A.: Indian J. Phys. 1, 199 (1927).
- (168a) RAMM, W.: Physik. Z. 35, 111, 756 (1934).
- (169) RAO, R.: Indian J. Phys. 2, 61 (1927).
- (170) RAO, S. R.: Indian J. Phys. 2, 7 (1927).
- (171) RAY, B.: Proc. Indian Assoc. Cultivation Sci. 7, 10 (1921); 8, 23 (1923).
- (172) RAYLEIGH: Phil. Mag. 41, 447 (1871).
- (173) RAYLEIGH: Phil. Mag. 12, 81 (1881).

GERALD OSTER

- (174) RAYLEIGH: Phil. Mag. 49, 324 (1900).
- (175) RAYLEIGH: Proc. Roy. Soc. (London) A84, 25 (1911).
- (176) RAYLEIGH: Proc. Roy. Soc. (London) A90, 219 (1914).
- (177) RAYLEIGH: Phil. Mag. 35, 373 (1918).
- (178) ROCARD, V.: J. phys. radium 4, 165 (1933).
- (179) ROSEN, J. S.: J. Optical Soc. Am. 37, 932 (1947).
- (180) ROUSSET, A.: Ann. phys. 5, 5 (1936).
- (181) RUEDY, R.: Can. J. Research A21, 79, 99 (1943); A22, 53 (1944).
- (182) SADRON, C.: J. chim. phys. 43, 142 (1946).
- (183) SCHAEFFER, V. J.: J. Phys. Chem. 45, 681 (1941).
- (184) Schiff, L. I.: Phys. Rev. 57, 844 (1940).
- (185) SCHOENBERG, E., AND LAMBRECHT, H.: Ergeb. exakt. Naturw. 19, 1 (1940).
- (186) SHOULEJKIN, W.: Phil. Mag. 48, 307 (1924).
- (187) SINCLAIR, D.: J. Optical Soc. Am. 37, 475 (1947).
- (188) SINGH, B.: Phil. Mag. 28, 635 (1939).
- (189) SINGH, D.: Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. A15, 406 (1942).
- (190) SLATER, J. C., AND FRANK, N. H.: Introduction to Theoretical Physics. The McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc., New York (1933).
- (191) SLATER, J. C.: Introduction to Chemical Physics. The McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc., New York (1939).
- (192) SMOLUCHOWSKI, M.: Ann. Physik 25, 205 (1908); Phil. Mag. 23, 165 (1912).
- (193) Speiser, R., and Brice, B. A.: J. Optical Soc. Am. 36, 364 (1946).
- (194) STEIN, R. S., AND DOTY, P.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 68, 162 (1946).
- (195) STEIN, R. S.: Personal communication.
- (196) STEUBING, W.: Ann. Physik 26, 329 (1908).
- (197) STEWART, G. W.: Chem. Revs. 6, 483 (1929).
- (198) STRATTON, J. A., AND HOUGHTON, H. G.: Phys. Rev. 38, 159 (1931).
- (199) STRATTON, J. A.: Electromagnetic Theory. The McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc., New York (1944).
- (200) STRAUSS, U. P.: Thesis, Cornell University, 1944.
- (201) STUART, H. A., AND TRIESCHMANN, H. G.: Hand-und Jahrbuch der chemischen Physik, Vol. 8, Part 2. Akademische Verlagsgesellschaft, Leipzig (1936).
- (202) SUBBARAMAIJA, D. S.: Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. A5, 138 (1935).
- (203) SUBRAHMANYA, R. S., Doss, K. S., AND RAO, B. S.: Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. A19, 405 (1944).
- (204) SVEDBERG, T.: Colloid Chemistry, 2nd edition. The Chemical Catalog Company, Inc., New York (1928).
- (204a) TAYLOR, W. J.: J. Chem. Phys. 15, 412 (1947).
- (205) TICHANOWSKY, J. J.: Physik. Z. 28, 252 (1927).
- (206) TOLMAN, R. C.: The Principles of Statistical Mechanics. Oxford University Press, London (1938).
- (207) TSVETKOFF, V., AND FRISMAN, E.: Compt. rend. acad. sci. U.R.S.S. 47, 550 (1945).
- (208) TYNDALL, J.: Phil. Mag. 37, 384 (1869).
- (209) UBBELOHDE, A. R.: Trans. Faraday Soc. 34, 282 (1938).
- (210) VAN DEM BORNE, H.: Z. Physik 99, 73 (1936).
- (211) VAN DER HULST, H. C.: Optics of Spherical Particles. Drukkerij Duwaer and Zonen, Amsterdam (1946).
- (212) VAN VLECK, J. A.: Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 60, 293 (1940).
- (213) VENKATESWARAN, C. S.: Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. A15, 322 (1942).
- (214) VENKATESWARAN, R.: Trans. Chem. Soc. 121, 2655 (1922).
- (215) VOLKMANN, H.: Ann. Physik 24, 457 (1935).
- (216) VRKLJAN, V. S., AND KATALINIC: Physik. Z. 37, 482 (1936).
- (217) VUKS, M. F.: Bull. acad. sci. U.R.S.S. (Sér. phys.) 9, 192 (1945).
- (218) WARREN, B. E.: J. Applied Phys. 8, 645 (1937).

- (219) WASER, J., BADGER, R. H., AND SCHOMAKER, V.: J. Chem. Phys. 14, 43 (1946).
- (220) Woods, R. W.: Physical Optics, 3rd edition. The Macmillan Company, New York (1934).
- (221) ZERNICKE, F.: Thesis, Amsterdam, 1915.
- (222) ZIMM, B. H.: J. Chem. Phys. 13, 141 (1945).
- (223) ZIMM, B. H.: J. Phys. Colloid Chem. 52, 260 (1948).
- (224) ZIMM, B. H., AND DOTY, P. M.: J. Chem. Phys. 12, 203 (1944).
- (225) ZIMM, B. H., STEIN, R. S., AND DOTY, P.: Polymer Bull. 1, 90 (1945).
- (226) ZOCHER, H., AND STIEBEL, F. S.: Z. physik. Chem. A174, 401 (1930).
- (227) ZWETKOV, V.: Acta Physicochim. U.R.S.S. 9, 111 (1938).